The Dissertation Committee for Christopher Roundy Certifies that this is the approved version of the following dissertation:

Vector Competence of *Aedes aegypti* for Zika Virus and Effects of Colonization

Committee: Scott C. Weaver, MS, PhD, Mentor Guilherme de Sousa Ribeiro, MD, MS, PhD Grant PhD ent 16 Dennis Bente, DVM, PhD Christopher Vitek, PhD

Vector Competence of *Aedes aegypti* for Zika Virus and Effects of Colonization

by

Christopher M. Roundy, BS, MSPH

Dissertation

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of The University of Texas Medical Branch in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Texas Medical Branch January 2020

Vector Competence of *Aedes aegypti* for Zika Virus and Effects of Colonization

Publication No._____

Christopher M. Roundy, PhD The University of Texas Medical Branch, 2020 Supervisor: Scott C. Weaver

Abstract: The following dissertation aims to determine how vector colonization of influences the vector competence of Aedes aegypti for Zika virus (ZIKV) as well as the microbiome as a correlating factor. Ae. aegypti is the vector of multiple arthropod-borne viruses including dengue, yellow fever, and Zika virus, making it one of the most globally significant disease vectors and is studied in laboratories world-wide with significant research focus on vector competence studies. Many of these studies, however, utilize strains of Ae. aegypti that have been colonized in insectaries for laboratory use and may not reflect the phenotype of wild mosquitoes. While studies have shown differences lab adaptation of mosquitoes resulting in an altered phenotype compared to field mosquitoes, a comprehensive study examining the process of adaptation and effects on vector competence has not been conducted. I hypothesize that the colonization of Ae. aegypti results in an increase in vector competence for ZIKV, correlated with a change in microbiome diversity and composition. First, the vector competence of multiple species of mosquitoes (Ae. aegypti, Ae. albopictus, and Culex quinquefasciatus) was determined for ZIKV, using various strains of both virus and each vector species. A field-collected population of Ae. aegypti was then colonized and experimentally examined for vector competence for ZIKV and microbiome over the course of ten generations. I found that the vector competence of this population did increase over the course of the study and that this change occurred abruptly after multiple generations, resulting in two distinct groups of low and high competence. I then identified a number of bacteria that exhibited different levels of abundance between the low and high competence groups, many of which remain uncharacterized in the mosquito microbiome. Further studies to elucidate the role of these bacteria in determining vector competence as well as the development methods to minimize the effects of colonization could lead to better standardization across vector competence studies and increased relevance to field mosquitoes. These findings are incorporated into the existing literature with recommendations on the design of vector competence studies.

Dedication

This work is dedicated to my grandmother, Barbara Poole, who was always incredibly supportive of my pursuits in academia and beyond; she encouraged me to work hard and enjoy the journey. Her persistent curiosity encouraged me to never stop asking questions.

Acknowledgements

This work would not have been possible without the support of excellent lab mates and great mentors. My mentor, Scott Weaver, provided invaluable guidance but always allowed me the freedom and resources to explore additional questions and pursue numerous opportunities within and beyond my dissertation work. This support enabled me to develop a skill set and network that will continue to carry me as I move forward in my scientific career.

My other committee members also provided extraordinary support and input that has shaped my academic path. Patience in explaining topics, sometimes repeatedly, was vital in the development of my research as well as my understanding of the results. Multiple committee members also supported significant travel opportunities that gave me a global framework for my research and became highlights of my PhD career.

Additionally, I would like to thank so many of my mentors and teachers, current and former. I have been so fortunate in my path through academia to have excellent mentors along every step of the way. Their patience and encouragement are the reason I have worked to make it this far. I hope to emulate their passion for the field of global health and infectious disease as well as their dedication to process of teaching and learning. Thank you.

List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Zika Virus	1
Virology	1
Discovery and Early Findings	4
Recent Zika Virus Activity	5
Transmission Cycles and Vector-Virus interactions	6
Urban and Sylvatic Transmission Cycles	6
Vector Competence vs Vectorial Capacity	7
Known Effects of Colonization	11
Mosquito Development and Reproduction	12
Mosquito Microbiome	13
Genetic Diversity	15
Vector Competence	15
Chapter 2: Methods and Materials	18
Cell Culture	18
Viruses	18
Mosquito Maintenance	19
Mosquito Processing and Screening	20
Viral Assays	21
Animals Use	22
Chapter 3: Vector Competence of <i>Aedes aegypti, Aedes albopictus,</i> and other Potential Vectors for Zika Virus	23
Rationale	23
Chapter Methods	25
Viruses	25
Mosquitoes	25
Animal Use	25

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Artificial Blood Meals	26
Viral Sample Screening	26
Statistical Analysis	26
Aedes aegypti Results	27
Aedes albopictus Results	32
Comparison of ZIKV Strains	32
Rio Grande Ae. albopictus	33
Houston Ae. albopictus	35
Salvador Ae. albopictus	38
Comparison of Mosquito Strains	39
MEX 1-7 ZIKV	39
PB 81 ZIKV	39
Saliva Titers	40
50% Oral Infectious Dose	41
Culex quinquefasciatus and Aedes taeniorhynchus Results	41
Discussion	42
Aedes aegypti	42
Aedes albopictus	46
Culex quinquefasciatus	50
Chapter 4: The Effect of Colonization on <i>Aedes aegypti</i> Vector Competence and Microbiome	d 53
Rationale	53
Chapter Methods	55
Viruses	55
Mosquitoes	55
Artificial Bloodmeals	55
Microbiome Sequencing	56
Results	57
Vector Competence	57
Microbiome Alpha Diversity	58
Microbiome Beta Diversity	60
Analysis of Composition of Microbes (ANCOM)	61

Discussion	65
Vector Competence	65
Microbiome	66
Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Directions	70
Summary Statement	70
Future Directions	73
References	75

List of Tables

Table 2.1: Zika Strains Used Throughout Studies	.18
Table 2.2: Mosquito genus, species, and populations utilized	. 20
Table 3.1: Experimental Parameters for Cx. quinquefasciatus vector competence	.41
Table 4.1: Summary of ANCOM Results	. 64
Table 4.2: Previous Literature on OTUs of Interest	.67

List of Figures

Figure 1.1	Zika Virus viral structure and genome organization2
Figure 1.2	Zika Virus Replication Cycle
Figure 1.3	Recent Zika Virus Spread5
Figure 1.4	Viral Infection of and Replication within a Mosquito9
Figure 3.1	Vector Competence of <i>Aedes aegypti</i> (Salvador, Brazil F2) for Zika viruses
Figure 3.2	Vector Competence of <i>Aedes aegypti</i> (Dominican Republic, Brazil F6) for Zika viruses
Figure 3.3	Vector Competence of <i>Aedes aegypti</i> (Rio Grande Valley F4) for Zika viruses
Figure 3.4	Vector Competence of <i>Aedes aegypti</i> (Salvador, Brazil F2) for ZIKV FSS13025 via viremic bloodmeal
Figure 3.5	Vector Competence of <i>Ae. albopictus</i> (Rio Grande Valley, TX, F5) for ZIKV
Figure 3.6	Vector Competence of <i>Ae. albopictus</i> (Houston, TX, F2) for ZIKV
Figure 3.7	Vector Competence of <i>Ae. albopictus</i> (Salvador, Brazil, F3) for ZIKV

Figure 4.1	Vector Competence of 10 Generations of <i>Ae. aegypti</i> for ZIKV 58
Figure 4.2	Total Number of Genera Detected in Microbiome of MultipleGenerations of Ae. aegypti59
Figure 4.3	Shannon Diversity in Microbiome of Multiple Generations of Ae. aegypti 60
Figure 4.4	Principal Coordinates Analysis of Multiple Generations of <i>Ae</i> . <i>aegypti</i>
Figure 4.5	Analysis of Composition of Microbes Comparing High Vector Competence and Low Vector Competence Generation Groups64

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

ZIKA VIRUS

Virology

Zika virus (ZIKV) is a positive-sense single stranded RNA (+ssRNA) virus that belongs to the genus *Flavivirus* (1-3). ZIKV's genome, roughly 11 kilobases, is organized as a single open reading frame (ORF) (3-7) (Figure 1.1B). This ORF results in a single polypeptide, which is then processed by a number of proteases (3-8). The genes and resulting proteins are: Envelope (E), Membrane (M), Capsid (C), non-structural 1 (NS1), NS2A, NS2B, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, and NS5 (Figure 1.1A,B) (3-8). An untranslated region can be found at both the 5' and 3' ends of the ORF, including a cap at the 5' end which initiates translation of the genome (3-8).



Figure 1.1 Zika Virus viral structure and genome organization

- A) ZIKV's virion is structured with the viral RNA encapsulated by viral capsid protein (C), organized within a lipid bilayer derived from the host cell along with viral membrane protein (M) and the external envelop protein (E).
- B) ZIKV's genome is a single open reading frame (ORF) flanked by untranslated regions (UTR) on both the 5' and 3' ends. The structural proteins are coded for by the corresponding genes: C, prM (whose product is cleaved into the M protein), and E. The non-structural genes are NS1, NS2A, NS2B, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, and NS5, whose proteins eventually form the viral replication complex. Following translation into protein products, the resulting single polypeptide is cleaved at a number of sites by viral and host proteases. Ávila-Pérez G, Nogales A, Martín V, Almazán F, Martínez-Sobrido L. Reverse Genetic

Approaches for the Generation of Recombinant Zika Virus. *Viruses* 2018;10(11):597. Published 2018 Oct 31. doi:10.3390/v10110597

Upon entry into a host cell and acidification of the endosome, the viral RNA is directly translated by host ribosomes (9-11). The resulting polypeptide is cleaved by both host and viral proteases, resulting in the viral structural proteins and non-structural proteins (NSPs) (Figure 1.1 B, Figure 1.2) (9-11). The non-structural proteins form the replication complex, which forms negative strands followed by new strands of positive-sense viral RNA for packaging (9-11). The viral structural proteins are assembled into immature virions, and bud around the viral RNA from the host endoplasmic reticulum. These immature virions undergo additional processing, namely the cleavage of the viral prM protein by furin, a host protease (9-11). The mature ZIKV virion is comprised of viral RNA encapsulated in the C protein within a lipid bilayer derived from host cells and viral E protein (9-11) (Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2 Zika Virus Replication Cycle

Following viral binding, endocytosis, and acidification of the endosome, viral RNA is released into the host cell. Translation of the +ssRNA occurs at the host ribosome, resulting in a single polyprotein that is then cleaved by viral and host proteases. NSPs form the replication complex for viral genome replication. Structural protein C forms the capsid around the genomes, further packaged into host lipid bilayer assembled with E and prM proteins. Immature viruses before maturation by host furin, cleaving prM into mature M protein. Following maturation, virions bud into the endoplasmic reticulum and are then exocytosed from the host cell.

Abram RPM, Solis J, Nath A, 2017. Therapeutic Approaches for Zika Virus Infection of the Nervous System. *Neurotherapeutics* 14(4):1027-1048. doi: 10.1007/s13311-017-0575-2.

Discovery and Early Findings

ZIKV was first detected in 1947 during yellow fever virus (YFV) surveillance in the serum of a sentinel rhesus macaque in the Ziika forest of Uganda (12,13). Months later, during additional YFV surveillance, sylvatic mosquitoes were collected and pooled for viral detection. A series of experiments involving inoculating animals with homogenized sylvatic mosquito pools found a filterable agent that caused illness in mice that failed to be neutralized by convalescent serum containing antibodies from YFV and dengue virus (DENV) (12,13). Following this initial characterization in animals, serosurveys were conducted throughout the region, including Ziika, Bwamba, Kampala, and western Nile region. These serosurveys found that evidence of ZIKV infection in about 6% of individuals studied, suggesting the first possibility of human infection (12). The first detected human infections were believed to have occurred in 1954 in Nigeria. During a jaundice outbreak, two patients exhibited an increase in ZIKV neutralizing titers and a viral isolate was able to be isolated from a third patient, but this was later determined to be Spondweni virus (13). Nearly a decade later in Entebbe, a patient with similar clinical presentation had serological evidence of ZIKV infection (14).

In parts of Asia, ZIKV has likely also been circulating at least since the 1950s, as supported by positive serosurveys in Malaya, India, and Borneo (15-18). The first detection of ZIKV in a non-sylvatic mosquito occurred in Malaysia in 1966 when the virus was isolated from a pool of *Aedes aegypti*, a species that is highly anthropophilic and anthropophagic (19). Surprisingly given this isolation from such an urban vector, there was no indication of human infection until multiple patients in Indonesia showed serological

evidence of ZIKV infection (20). Furthermore, there were no findings of ZIKV circulation for decades afterwards (Figure 1.3) (21).



Figure 1.3 Recent Zika Virus Spread

Following historic spread in parts of Africa, India, and Southeast Asia as determined by serologic evidence, a series of outbreaks in the South Pacific began in 2007. This modern circulation of ZIKV eventually led to an introduction in Brazil in 2013 where the virus spread through many countries in the Americas.

Weaver SC, 2017. Emergence of Epidemic Zika Virus Transmission and Congenital Zika Syndrome: Are Recently Evolved Traits to Blame? *mBio* 8(1): e02063-16; DOI: 10.1128/mBio.02063-16

Recent Zika Virus Activity

In 2007, ZIKV caused an outbreak on a scale previously unseen for this virus (Figure 1.3) (16, 22-26). On the island of Yap of the Federated States of Micronesia, there were 59 suspected cases, of which 49 were confirmed. Follow-up serosurveys and modeling of the outbreak found that there were likely over 5000 cases in the total population of 6800, indicating that over 70% of persons living on the island had been infected (24). Also in 2007, ZIKV caused an outbreak in Gabon (15-16) Six years later,

ZIKV caused an outbreak in French Polynesia, which was linked to a 2010 outbreak in Cambodia based on sequencing (16, 27-28).

Within a decade, ZIKV was detected in human cases in 2015 in Brazil, although retrospective studies indicate that ZIKV was introduced as early as 2013 and was not detected due to clinical similarity to DENV and other arboviruses endemic in the region. This outbreak was detected partially due to and rapidly drew international concern due to association with a spike in birth defects, the most notable of which was microcephaly (16,21,25-26). ZIKV rapidly spread throughout major urban regions in Brazil and into surrounding countries, followed by a spike in microcephaly in many regions (Figure 1.3) (29). In 2016, the ZIKV outbreak in the Americas was declared a "public health emergency of international concern" by the World Health Organization (30). Additional surveillance revealed that microcephaly was just one of the possible birth defects, which were termed congenital Zika syndrome (31).

In response to the introduction and rapid spread of Zika virus, Brazil amplified vector control efforts. In addition to traditional use of insecticide and larvicide, regions in Brazil also employed novel control techniques. A long-term, widespread trapping program was used in Recife (32), a mosquito-disseminated pyriproxyfen was tested in Amazonian Brazil (33), and field studies of transgenic sterile male mosquitoes were conducted in Bahia (34). Each of these techniques exhibited local success in the reduction of *Aedes aegypti*.

TRANSMISSION CYCLES AND VECTOR-VIRUS INTERACTIONS

Urban and Sylvatic Transmission Cycles

Similar to other arboviruses, ZIKV maintains an enzootic transmission cycle in forests between non-human primates (NHPs) and sylvatic mosquitoes. For ZIKV, this

transmission occurs between African green monkeys and *Aedes furcifer* and *Aedes africanus* (16). Spillover from this cycle occurs in areas where humans come into contact with these sylvatic vectors. This includes not only areas where humans live on the edge of sylvatic habitats but also cases where individuals may regularly work in forested areas, such as logging (16).

Once a human has been infected with the virus through exposure to a sylvatic cycle, there is potential to introduce the cycle into an urban transmission cycle. During this cycle, the virus circulates between humans and urban and/or peri-urban vector species, such as *Ae. aegypti* and *Ae. albopictus* (16). In order for this urban cycle to be maintained, humans must develop a high enough viremia to infect a susceptible vector during blood feeding and the mosquito species present must be competence vectors or the virus.

Vector Competence vs Vectorial Capacity

When examining vector-virus interactions and the role played in arboviral outbreaks, two important terms to define and differentiate are vector competence and the broader vectorial capacity. While it is only one aspect of vectorial capacity, vector competence can be studied in a laboratory setting and therefore has a much larger representation in the literature. Vector competence is defined as the innate ability of a mosquito to transmit a given agent (32, 36). More specifically, vector competence describes the susceptibility of mosquito to infection with an infectious agent and then the subsequent transmission of the agent. Vectorial capacity, on the other hand, is defined as the daily rate of new infections arising from current infections and incorporates a number of factors related to both vectors and humans (32-35).

In order to closely examine vector competence of arboviruses, it is necessary to understand interactions that take place within the mosquito during infection, dissemination, and transmission. When a female mosquito takes a blood meal from an individual with high enough viremia, the virus ingested first makes its way to the mosquito midgut (Figure 1.4, step 1) (36). Here the virus faces the first barriers to infection. In the midgut, the virus must overcome effects of the mosquito microbiome, digestive enzymes, and mosquito immune response as well as physical barriers (36). Following ingestion of a blood meal, the mosquito's midgut cells excrete a peritrophic matrix, which envelops the blood meal and blocks viral access to the mosquito's midgut epithelium cells (36). The virus must attach to and infect the midgut epithelial cells prior to the production of this matrix. This hurdle to infect in scalled the midgut infection barrier (MIB) (36) (Figure 1.4 step 2). If the virus is able to infect the midgut epithelium, it must next replicate within these cells and be released from the basolateral end of the cells. Here it faces additional pressure from the mosquito immune response and the tissue barrier of the basal lamina (36). This stage is called the midgut escape barrier (MEB) (36) (Figure 1.4 step 3).

If a virus is able to overcome both the MIB and the MEB, it enters the mosquito hemolymph, resulting in what is referred to as a disseminated infection. From here, the virus is able to infect tissues throughout the mosquito, including the legs, wings, ovaries, and, importantly, the salivary glands (Figure 1.4 step 4). The last major barrier for the virus is the salivary gland infection barrier (SGIB) (Figure 1.4 step 5). The basal lamina of the salivary glands may be the major tissue barrier of this stage (36). Once the salivary glands have been infected, the virus can replicate within the salivary glands and be shed in the mosquito saliva, which is injected into a host during blood feeding. Each of these major barriers presents a significant bottleneck to the virus population which results in a significant reduction in the diversity of viral population present in the mosquito following each stage of infection (37,38). The amount of time it takes a virus to complete this process from acquisition of virus from viremic blood meal to shedding virus in saliva is called the extrinsic incubation period (EIP), one of the main factors of interest in determining vector competence and one of the most important for vectorial capacity.



Figure 1.4 Viral Infection of and Replication within a Mosquito

Following uptake of the virus in a viremic blood meal (1), the virus enters the midgut of the mosquito where it faces the midgut infection barrier (2). After crossing the midgut escape barrier (3), the virus enters the hemolymph where it can invade and replicate in additional organs throughout the mosquito (4). Lastly, the virus enters the salivary glands and replicates (5) before being shed in the saliva during blood feeding.

Lim EXY, Lee WS, Madzokere ET, Herrero LJ. Mosquitoes as Suitable Vectors for Alphaviruses. *Viruses*. 2018;10(2):84. Published 2018 Feb 14. doi:10.3390/v10020084

Extrinsic factors also influence vector-virus interaction. Most notably, ambient temperature has been shown to affect infection, dissemination, and transmission. One study focused on ZIKV in *Ae. aegypti* found that the virus had an optimal temperature for infection and exhibited decreased efficiency at temperatures above or below the optimal range (39). This trend was also observed for dissemination and transmission, though the optimal temperature range was narrower (39).

While each of the components of vector competence can be studied experimentally and determined in a laboratory, vectorial capacity is a much more complicated concept. Specifically defined as the daily rate of new infections arising from current infections and incorporates a number of factors related to both vectors and humans, vectorial capacity is described by the equation:

$$ma^2bp^n/-log_ep$$

where m= the number of female mosquitoes relative to human hosts, a= the daily rate of blood feeding, b= the transmission rate of exposed mosquitoes (the variable most closely related to vector competence), p= the survival rate of the mosquito in days, and n= the number of days between ingesting an infectious blood meal and shedding of virus in saliva (EIP, also related to vector competence) (32,42-43). Vectorial capacity combines factors of arbovirus transmission that can be determined in a laboratory setting, namely vector competence, with other factors that directly impact the spread of viruses during an outbreak. By examining both vector-virus and vector-human interactions, vectorial capacity gives a more complete picture than described by vector competence alone.

The important differences between vector competence and vectorial capacity are most evident when more than one vector species is capable of transmitting a given virus. In the example of chikungunya virus, *Ae. aegypti* was the primary vector while *Ae. albopictus* was a secondary vector (38). This was in part driven by the differences in feeding patterns between these two mosquitoes. The highly anthropophilic *Ae. aegypti* feeds primarily on human blood meals, making it much more likely to ingest an infectious blood meal and subsequently more likely to transmit the virus to human hosts following the EIP. The less anthropophilic *Ae. albopictus* is more catholic in its feeding, taking blood meals from more varied hosts, and is therefore less likely to become infected and transmit virus (38). However, *Ae. albopictus* occupies a different ecologic and global niche, more likely to be found in peri-urban areas than *Ae. aegypti* and more likely to be found in temperate climates, partially due to the ability of *Ae. albopictus* to overwinter as eggs (44) (38). For these reasons, *Ae. albopictus* could possibly spread the virus into new regions, were it to become a more efficient vector. This is ultimately what was observed with chikungunya virus when a series of adaptive mutations occurring in the Indian Ocean

Lineage significantly increased transmission efficiency in *Ae. albopictus*, which subsequently became the primary vector in outbreaks in regions where *Ae. aegypti* was less prevalent (38). This example shows the importance of the relative effects of each factor in the vectorial capacity equation. Prior to the *Ae. albopictus* adaptive mutations, the relatively low human exposure (variable a) resulted in low enough vectorial capacity that *Ae. albopictus* was not an important vector of chikungunya virus. However, the adaptive mutations increased variables b and n, which increased the overall vectorial capacity even though other factors remained low.

KNOWN EFFECTS OF COLONIZATION

Vector colonization, the long-term rearing of mosquitoes over multiple generations in insectary and laboratory settings, is a necessary component of vector research. Many labs that study mosquitoes simply do not have regular access to field collections due to their geographic location away from tropical and subtropical regions. Even for labs in regions with the vector species of interest, mosquitoes often need to be mass-reared in numbers that would be difficult to collect from the field. Additionally, it would be challenging to control field-collected mosquitoes for age and other factors. However, the insectary setting is very different from the natural setting of mosquitoes, lacking many of the natural pressures that mosquitoes face during survival in nature as well as much of the diversity of bacteria they are exposed to throughout the course of their lives. Insectary colonies are maintained in controlled conditions to maximize survival, reproduction, and ease of use. In some cases, mosquito colonies are maintained for decades, such as the Rockefeller strain of *Ae. aegypti*, which was originally collected from Cuba in the 1930s (45). This Rockefeller strain is widely used due to its ease of use and availability, but how it differs from field populations has been of interest for decades (46). The specific effects that long-term colonization has on the vectors and on experimental outcomes of interest (i.e. vector competence, microbiome, behavior) is not well-established, but studies have

made it clear that mosquitoes quickly adapt to these laboratory settings and this adaptation may have consequences for experimental studies.

Mosquito Development and Reproduction

In their natural environment, immature mosquitoes may have to deal with aquatic predators, interspecies competition (47), and limited nutritional resources (48). In a laboratory setting, however, larvae and pupae are often given food *ad libitum* and do not have to deal with significant competition or predation. Studies have found that this alters how quickly mosquitoes develop during immature stages (49). Dense adult mosquito populations combined with mosquitoes in a given colony being closely age-matched has also been shown to affect sexual maturation and breeding (50,51).

In a large study (49), *Ross et al.* collected *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes from Townsville, Australia and started multiple colonies under varying conditions such as consensus size, level of inbreeding (including use of isofemale lines), and nutritional status. These conditions were run in replicate and compared during early colonization (F4) and nine generations later (F13). In examining larval development time, *Ross et al.* found that results depended on colony condition. Smaller colonies (<100 individuals as compared to 400 individuals in large study colonies) exhibited developmental delays only under low nutrition settings as compared to both the large colonies and the ancestral (F4) colony. Under high nutritional settings, developmental rate were mixed, even between replicate colonies. However, the large colony populations consistently developed faster than the ancestral colony, suggesting adaptation to laboratory settings (49).

Ross et al. also examined other aspects of these mosquito colonies (49), such as survival to adulthood, fecundity, egg hatch rate, and mating competitiveness. In each of these factors, the isofemale lines and smaller mosquito colonies exhibited significant changes from the ancestral colony, resulting in lower survival to adulthood, lower egg

hatch rate, and decreased mating competitiveness. For the larger colony populations, however, there were no statistically significant differences found in these factors (49)

In nature, male mosquitoes typically require around between 12 and 40 hours to reach sexual maturity, depending on the species, which involves a 180 degree rotation of the genitalia before successful mating can be achieved (50). However, a study comparing *Anopheles arabiensis* field-collected as pupae to a colony maintained for over 100 generations found an accelerated male development rate in the colonized population. At 11 hours post-emergence, 42% of colonized males had already completed genital rotation, which further increased to 96% at 17 hours post-emergence during which time none of the wild-collected males had reached sexual maturity (50).

While reproductive traits such as sperm length and size of testes and male accessory gland have not been significantly correlated with mating success in mosquitoes (51), they can be used as indicators to track changes to reproductive phenotype that occur during colonization. In comparing these traits between F1 progeny of field-collected *An. gambiae* versus a colony maintained for over 25 years, it was found that colonized males exhibited shorter sperm length, larger testes, and smaller accessory gland, suggesting laboratory adaptation and potential reproductive cost (51).

Mosquito Microbiome

The mosquito microbiome is comprised of the bacterial communities that occupy the midgut and other organs (52). Mosquitoes likely acquire their microbiota (the specific bacteria that comprise the microbiome) from a number of exposures including larval water (53), blood meals (54), and other sources. Portions of the microbiome have also been shown to be transferred vertically, during egg laying, as well as horizontally (52). While much research focuses on the gut microbiome, recent research has shed light on the microbiome of other organs in the mosquito, especially the salivary glands (55). In the wild, immature mosquitoes develop in bacteria-rich aquatic habitats and female adult mosquitoes acquire blood meals from varied hosts. However, in an insectary setting, standardization of rearing protocols leads to mosquitoes being exposed to a different and likely less diverse set of bacteria from larval rearing through blood feeding as adults.

One study (56) examined the microbiome of three species of mosquitoes, comparing laboratory-reared mosquitoes to field-collected mosquitoes from two different trap types. It was found that *Ae. aegypti* from the lab had a significantly lower diversity of their microbiome when compared to field mosquitoes from either trap type. However, no difference was observed within *Ae. albopictus* and *Culex quinquefasciatus* actually showed the opposite, with field-collected mosquitoes exhibiting lower diversity than the laboratory-reared group. This study also found that the laboratory-reared mosquitoes exhibited a distinct microbiome community structure when compared to their field counterparts across all three species. This observation was particularly evident with *Ae. aegypti* (56).

In a study examining the conservation of the midgut microbiome during *An.* gambiae colonization, it was found that after 10 generations, microbiome diversity was decreased and only 38% of the bacterial genera from the field-collected population had been maintained (57). Another study by *Dickson et al.* (58) compared the microbiome of six *Ae. aegypti* colonies with different geographic origins and varying levels of colonization. The mosquito colonies examined in this study originated from field collections in Australia (F10), Cambodia (F7), French Guiana (F4), Gabon (F10), Guadeloupe (F5), and Uganda (F3). The study found that the microbiomes of these mosquitoes were remarkably similar, with no significant differences detected in the richness, diversity, or composition of the microbiome between any groups (58). This suggests not only that the microbiome of colonized mosquitoes is largely determined by the insectary in which they are reared, but also that this shift to an insectary microbiome occurs relatively quickly. The mosquito microbiome is not an isolated element, but has been shown to influence other factors of interest. The microbiome plays significant roles

in the development (59), immune response (60), vector competence (61), among other factors.

Genetic Diversity

One important indication of divergence of a colonized population from its fieldcollected origin is genetic diversity. While a decrease in genetic diversity may be minimized over the course of colonization by using a large initial population, the genetic effects of using small starting populations, including isofemale lines, and colony inbreeding have been observed. One study (62) that examined the published sequences of over a dozen *Ae. aegypti* colonies and then compared them to field counterparts across different parts of the world found that the lab strains were less genetically diverse. Also of interest, *Gloria-Soria et al.* found that a widely used laboratory strain of *Ae. aegypti*, the Liverpool strain, was so divergent from mosquitoes collected from the reported strain origin, that they suggest the strain was possibly contaminated (62). A study comparing *An. arabiensis* colonized for 13 generations to mosquitoes collected form their site of origin found that the colonized group had significantly lower total number of alleles, hypothesizing that some differences observed are due to a small initial starting population (63).

Vector Competence

Vector competence has been shown to be affected by a number of factors, including microbiome (64) and modulation of immune genes (65, 66). As both microbiome and vector genes have been shown to be affected by vector colonization, it follows that colonization would consequently have an impact on vector competence. However, as vector competence is impacted by many underlying factors, determining causality and predicting direction of change may be difficult.

A study examining vector competence for strains of dengue virus in two lowgeneration populations of *Ae. aegypti* (Peru, F2 and Texas, F3) and comparing them to the highly colonized Rockefeller strain found that while the low-colonized mosquitoes exhibited different levels of disseminated virus when infected with different strains, the Rockefeller mosquitoes exhibited no variation among strains (67). However, in comparing vector competence of these low-colonized mosquitoes to Rockefeller, there was no clear correlation with level of colonization (67). When a colony of *Ae. aegypti* from Vero Beach, Florida was followed for 16 generations and examined for yellow fever virus vector competence, it was found that levels of disseminated infections decreased with colonization (68).

In studies of non-*Aedes* species, when the vector competence of *Culex pipiens* for Rift Valley fever virus was examined across 16 generations of colonization, the susceptibility to infection increased over the course of colonization, but the rate of virus transmission decreased (69). In another study, field-collected *An. stephensi* were compared to *An. stephensi* that had been colonized for over 65 generations (71). When fed with *Plasmodium vivax* from patient blood, the field-collected mosquitoes and colonized mosquitoes exhibited the same level of susceptibility to infection with the oocyst stage (71). However, when the level of sporozoite loads were compared, the wild mosquitoes exhibited increased levels of sporozoites compared to the colonized group (71).

The described colonization studies provide evidence that colonization does significantly affect the phenotype of mosquitoes as compared to natural populations. Insectary conditions and protocols for rearing and maintenance influence vector development, microbiome, genetic diversity, and vector competence. These studies, however, examine colonization as an endpoint, comparing late-generation mosquito strains to earlier generations or field populations. Understanding the process of colonization, how quickly vector changes occur and correlations between the changing factors would greatly increase our ability to mitigate these factors, increasing reproducibility as well as relevance of lab populations to natural populations.

Chapter 2: Methods and Materials

CELL CULTURE

Vero cells (African green monkey kidney, CCL-81) were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). Vero cells were maintained in Dulbecco's modification of Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 5% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS), 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin (Pen-Strep). Vero cells were incubated at 37° C with humidity and 5% CO₂. C6/36 (*Aedes albopictus*) cells were maintained in a medium with Eagle's Minimum Essential Medium (EMEM) and L-15 medium in a 1:1 ratio supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FBS, 1% nonessential amino acids, 5% tryptose phosphate broth, 0.5% sodium bicarbonate, and 1% Pen-Strep. C6/36 cells were incubated at 28° C with humidity and 5% CO₂.

VIRUSES

Viruses used for all described studies were obtained from the World Reference Center for Emerging Viruses and Arboviruses (WRCEVA). Lyophilized viruses were reconstituted in DMEM supplemented with 3% FBS. Once reconstituted, viruses were put on nearly confluent Vero or C6/36 cells to grow viral stocks. These cells were then observed daily during viral growth for signs of cytopathic effect (CPE). Once proper CPE was reached, cell supernatant was collected and cell debris was removed by centrifugation (4000 RPM for 15 min). Additional heat-inactivated FBS was then added to clarified until total FBS volume reached 30%. Virus stocks were aliquoted into 1mL single-use amounts and stored at -80° C. Viruses used as full length infectious clones (FLIC) were obtained as lyophilized stocks following preparation as previously described (71). Viruses used throughout the described studies are listed and described in Table 2.1.

Table 2.1: Zika Virus Strains Used Throughout These Studies

Strain	Genbank Accession	Species of Origin	Location Isolated	Year Isolated	Passage History*	Experiment(s) Used in
DakAR 41525	KU955591.1	Ae. africanus	Senegal	1984	AP61, C6/36 (2), Vero (3)	Ae. aegypti Ae. albopictus Culex quinquefasciatus (Chapter 3)
FSS 130125 (isolate)	KU955593.1	Human	Cambodia	2010	Vero, C6/36 (2), Vero (3)	Ae. aegypti Ae. albopictus Culex quinquefasciatus (Chapter 3)
MEX 1-7	KX247632.1	Ae. aegypti	Chiapas State, Mexico	2015	Vero (4), C6/36, Vero (3)	Ae. aegypti Ae. albopictus Culex quinquefasciatus (Chapter 3)
MEX 1- 44	KX856011.1	Ae. aegypti	Chiapas State, Mexico	2015	Vero (7)	Culex quinquefasciatus (Chapter 3)
PB81	KU365780	Human	Brazil	2015	Vero, C6/36, Vero	Ae. albopictus Culex quinquefasciatus (Chapter 3)
PRVABC 59	KX377337.1	Human	Puerto Rico	2015	Vero (5)	Ae. albopictus Culex quinquefasciatus (Chapter 3)
PRVABC 59 FLIC	KX377337.1	Human	Puerto Rico	2015	Vero-P1, post electroporation	<i>Ae. aegypti</i> (Chapter 4)

MOSQUITO MAINTENANCE

Mosquito populations used in the described studies, listed in table 2.2, were kept in an incubator with a temperature of $27\pm1^{\circ}$ C, relative humidity of $80\pm10\%$, and light:dark cycle of 16:8. Mosquitoes were sex-sorted 3 days post-eclosion and only female mosquitoes were used for studies, including microbiome sequencing. After sorting mosquitoes were housed within .5L cardboard containers with mesh tops in the incubators for the remainder of studies. Immediately following sorting, mosquitoes were given access to water soaked cotton balls, which were removed approximately 12 hours prior to blood feeding to increase feeding efficiency. Following feeding and sorting for engorgement, mosquitoes were given access to 10% filtered sucrose soaked into cotton balls *ad libitum* for the remainder of the studies (72,73).

Mosquito Population	Location	Generation	Experiment(s) Used in
Aedes aegypti	Salvador, Brazil	F2	Chapter 3
Aedes aegypti	Dominican Republic	F6	Chapter 3
Aedes aegypti	Rio Grande Valley, Texas, USA	F4	Chapter 3
Aedes albopictus	Rio Grande Valley, Texas, USA	F5	Chapter 3
Aedes albopictus	edes albopictus Houston, Texas, USA		Chapter 3
Aedes albopictus	Salvador, Brazil	F3	Chapter 3
Aedes taeniorhynchus	Galveston, Texas, USA	Long term colony	Chapter 3
Culex quinquefasciatus	Galveston, Texas, USA	Long term colony	Chapter 3
Culex guinguefasciatus Houston, Texas, USA		F2	Chapter 3
Aedes aegypti	Weslaco, Texas, USA	F0-F10	Chapter 4
Aedes aegypti	Rockefeller strain (Cuba)	Long term colony	Chapter 4

Table 2.2: Mosquito genus, species, and populations utilized

MOSQUITO PROCESSING AND SCREENING

To determine whether ZIKV-exposed mosquitoes were productively infected, and whether the infections had disseminated and where being shed into saliva, cohorts of mosquitoes from each population were selected for analysis (either 2, 3, 4, 7, 10, 14, 17 or 21 days post-oral exposure). To facilitate collection of saliva, mosquitoes were anesthetized on ice, and legs were removed and placed into microfuge tubes containing a sterilized steel ball bearing and 500µL of mosquito collection media (MCM) (DMEM, 2% FBS, 1% Pen-Strep, and 2.5µg/mL of amphotericin B). Following removal of legs, mosquitoes were restrained on a glass slide with mineral oil, and their proboscises were inserted into a 10µL micropipette tip containing 8µL of FBS. Following a 30-minute period in which the mosquitoes were allowed to salivate, the FBS/saliva were ejected into a microfuge tube containing 100µL of MCM. The carcasses of the mosquitoes were placed into independent tubes with 500µL of MCM matched to the corresponding legs/saliva tube. In some experiments, salivary glands and midguts were utilized in lieu of saliva and carcasses, and in some experiments only bodies and legs were collected. Bodies, legs, midguts, and salivary glands were processed by trituration for 5 minutes at 26Hz in

TissueLyser II (Qiagen), and all samples (including saliva) were clarified in a centrifuge at 200 x g for 5 minutes.

VIRAL ASSAYS

To determine titers of virus present in stocks, mouse/NHP sera, or bloodmeals, samples underwent 10-fold serial dilution series in dilution media (DMEM, 2% FBS, 1% Pen-Strep) in 96 well culture plates. Following dilution, 100 μ L of dilutions were added to nearly confluent (80-95%) monolayers of Vero cells on either 12 or 24 well tissue culture plates. Viral dilutions were allowed to adsorb for one hour in a humidified 37°C incubator with 5% CO₂, at which point plates were overlayed using a solution of DMEM containing 3% FBS, 1% Pen-Strep, 1.25 μ L/mL amphotericin B, and 0.8% (weight/vol) methylcellulose. Overlayed plates were incubated for 3-5 days (dependent on viral strain) in a humidified 37°C incubator with 5% CO₂.

To determine the presence or absence of virus in homogenized mosquito samples or saliva, either 50 or 100 μ L of clarified supernatant were added to nearly confluent (80-95%) monolayers of Vero cells on either 96 or 24 well tissue culture plates respectively. Inocula were adsorbed for one hour in a humidified 37°C incubator with 5% CO₂, at which point plates were overlayed using a solution of DMEM containing 3% FBS, 1% Pen-Strep, 1.25 μ L/mL amphotericin B (for 96 well plates) or DMEM containing 3% FBS, 1% Pen-Strep, 1.25 μ L/mL amphotericin B and 0.8% (weight/vol) methylcellulose (for 24 well plates). 96 well plates were incubated for 3 days, while 24 well plates were incubated for 3-5 days (strain dependent) in a humidified 37°C incubator with 5% CO₂.

Following incubation, liquid or semisolid overlays were removed and each well was washed twice with phosphate buffered saline (PBS), and fixed for a minimum of 30 minutes in an ice-cold solution of methanol:acetone (1:1, vol/vol). Following fixation, organic fixative was removed and plates were air-dried. Following complete air drying, plates were washed with PBS and then blocked with 3% FBS in PBS, followed by an

overnight incubation with mouse hyperimmune serum against-ZIKV strain MR-766 (1:2,000 in blocking solution) (WRCEVA, UTMB). Plates were then washed with PBS followed by incubation with a goat anti-mouse secondary antibody conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (KPL, Gaithersburg, MD) diluted1:2,000 in blocking solution. Plates were washed with PBS, after which an aminoethylcarbazole solution (Enzo Diagnostics, Farmingdale, NY) prepared according to manufacturer's protocol, was added and plates were incubated in the dark. Development was halted by washing in tap water and plates were allowed to air dry at room temperature before scoring.

ANIMALS USE

Animal experiments described in chapter 3 were performed in full compliance with the guidelines established by the Animal Welfare Act for the housing and care of laboratory animals and conducted as laid out in University of Texas Medical Branch Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (UTMB-IACUC) approved protocols. Mice (*Mus musculus*, A129 (IFN α/β receptor null, IFNAR) were approved for use on IACUC protocol #0209068B.

Chapter 3: Vector Competence of *Aedes aegypti*, *Aedes albopictus*, and other Potential Vectors for Zika Virus*

RATIONALE

Following its initial discovery and characterization, Zika virus (ZIKV) was found in a series of serosurveys to have spread through parts of Africa and Southeast Asia (12,13,16,78-80). ZIKV had caused less than two dozen reported human cases in the 50 years subsequent to 1954 and most of these were mild febrile illnesses (16). With the exception of being isolated from a pool of *Aedes aegypti* in Malaysia (19), ZIKV had not been associated with urban transmission and appeared to be largely caused by sylvatic transmission and spillover events (16).

After remaining unseen for many years, ZIKV began causing outbreaks in the South Pacific, beginning with the outbreak on Yap Island in 2007 and rapidly spreading to other islands in the region including French Polynesia, New Caledonia, Easter Island, and the Cook Islands (16,22,23,25,81). ZIKV would next emerge in Brazil in 2013 (70-86), though it remained undetected in the region until 2015 (81), most probably due to the high levels of endemic dengue virus (DENV) circulation as well as the introduction of chikungunya virus (CHIKV) around the same time (86). ZIKV rapidly spread through the Americas, causing outbreaks and increases of associated birth defects in many countries throughout the region (26,87). Of particular note during this American outbreak was the emergent association with urban settings and transmission by urban vectors, specifically *Ae. aegypti*

(21).

* Portions of this chapter are verbatim comprised of previously published work:

Azar SR, Roundy CM, Rossi SL, et al. Differential Vector Competency of *Aedes albopictus* Populations from the Americas for Zika Virus. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*. 2017; 97(2): 330–339. doi:10.4269/ajtmh.16-0969 Hart CE, Roundy CM, Azar SR, et al. Zika Virus Vector Competency of Mosquitoes, Gulf Coast, United States. *Emerg Infect Dis*. 2017; 23(3): 559–560. doi:10.3201/eid2303.161636

Roundy CM, Azar SR, Brault AC, et al. Lack of evidence for Zika virus transmission by Culex mosquitoes. *Emerg Microbes Infect*. 2017; 6(10): e90. Published 2017 Oct 18. doi:10.1038/emi.2017.85

Roundy CM, Azar SR, Rossi SL, et al. Variation in Aedes aegypti Mosquito Competence for Zika Virus Transmission. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2017; 23(4): 625–632. doi:10.3201/eid2304.161484

This association led to three leading hypotheses by arbovirus researchers: 1) ZIKV was simply introduced into a large, naïve population living in proximity to competent vectors, leading to large scale outbreaks; 2) ZIKV had adapted for increased level or duration of human viremia, causing an increase in potential mosquito infectivity; 3) ZIKV had adapted for increased fitness in urban vectors, such as *Ae. aegypti*, increasing transmission rates in areas with high human density (21). The third of these hypotheses was suggested by a similar adaptation that took place in CHIKV; mutations that occurred in the Indian Ocean Lineage of the virus caused an increase in fitness in *Ae. albopictus* mosquitoes and aided the further spread of CHIKV (76-86).

In order to test the hypothesis that the American strain of ZIKV had adapted for increased fitness in and transmission by urban vectors, a series of vectors competence studies was run. In the first set of experiments, two viral strains from before the American outbreak, DakAr 41525 (African lineage, Senegal, 1984) and FSS13025 (Asian lineage, Cambodia 2010), were compared to an American outbreak isolate, MEX1-7 (American lineage, Mexico, 2015). Each of these strains was used to infect three groups of *Ae. aegypti* collected from Salvador, Brazil; Rio Grande Valley, Texas; and the Dominican Republic.

Following experiments with *Aedes aegypti*, similar experiments were conducted with *Ae. albopictus*, another important urban vector. *Aedes albopictus* was of particular interest due to its ability to occupy a wider array of ecological niches and climates as compared to *Ae. aegypti* (80). Even though *Ae. albopictus* may not have as many anthropophilic behaviors as *Ae. aegypti*, its wider geographic range, including portions of the Northeast US (80), caused specific concern if it were found to be a highly competent vector of ZIKV. These experiments largely mirrored those conducted in *Ae. aegypti* with a few changes to note. The artificial blood meal system utilized with *Ae. aegypti* was replaced by the use of infectious murine blood meals, as this was found to increase vector competence (91). Additionally, some different strains of mosquito and virus were utilized,

based on availability. This was especially true of ZIKV strains as additional isolates became available throughout the ongoing outbreak.

As the outbreak progressed and as publications showed a relatively low level of vector competence for *Ae. aegypti* (92), some became concerned that additional vectors, namely *Culex quinquefasciatus*, may be playing a cryptic role in viral transmission (89,90). This concern was of unique interest because *Cx. quinquefasciatus* occupies a much broader geographical and ecological niche than either *Ae. aegypti* and *Ae. albopictus*. If *Cx. quinquefasciatus* were in fact a significant vector of ZIKV, significantly greater regions of the Americas would be at risk, particularly those outside of urban centers.

CHAPTER METHODS

Viruses

The viruses used throughout these studies were low passage isolates, as described in Chapter 2 and listed in Table 2-1.

Mosquitoes

The mosquitoes used throughout these studies were low colonized populations, as described in Chapter 2 and listed in Table 2-2.

Animal Use

Four-week-old Type I interferon receptor-knockout (IFNAR^{-/-}, A129) mice were infected via IP injection with 10⁵ FFU of ZIKV strain FSS13025 in a volume of 100µL. Inocula were diluted in sterile phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Based on previous work, this infection can be expected to demonstrate viremias ranging from 10⁴-10⁷ FFU/mL on days 1-3 days pot-infection (DPI) with peak viremia anticipated at 2 DPI. A single animal per DPI was selected, anesthetized with 100mg/kg Ketamine, and placed atop the mesh lid of a 0.5L cardboard cup containing starved *Ae. aegypti*. Mosquitoes were allowed to feed
for 30 min, then cold-anesthetized, and fully engorged specimens were incubated as described in Chapter 2. After blood feeding, mice were euthanized and exsanguinated for viremia quantification by FFA.

Artificial Blood Meals

Artificial blood meals containing ZIKV were prepared at $\approx 4 \times 10^4$, 4×10^5 , or 4×10^6 FFU/mL. Blood meals comprised 1% (wt./vol) sucrose, 7.5% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 12.5% washed human erythrocytes (University of Texas Medical Branch blood bank), 900 μ M adenosine triphosphate, and viral dilutions in DMEM containing 2% FBS and 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin. After 1 h of feeding, mosquitoes were cold-anesthetized, and engorged females were extrinsically incubated. Infections were conducted in 4 separated experiments, with 1 of the 3 mosquito strains studied at a time, followed by the murine blood meal experiments.

Viral Sample Screening

CPE-positive saliva samples were titrated using the "Viral Assay" methodology described in Chapter 2 on 24-well plates of Vero cells. Means and SDs were calculated for all positive samples. Samples that were positive during initial screening but below the limit of detection (10 FFU) for the titration assay were given a value of limit of detection–1 for statistical analysis.

Statistical Analysis

For mosquitoes fed on artificial blood meals, the effect of mosquito strain, virus strain, and dpi, as well as interactions among these, on percentage of bodies infected was analyzed by using a nominal logistic regression, with separate analyses for each blood meal titer (\approx 4, 5, or 6 log₁₀ FFU/mL). Because of the large number of comparisons, the threshold for significance (α) was set to an arbitrary but conservative value of 0.005. Next, the effects

of mosquito strain, virus strain, and dpi on disseminated infections, measured as the percentage of infected bodies that produced infected legs, were analyzed by using a nominal logistic regression, with separate analyses for each blood meal titer. Similarly, the effects of mosquito strain, virus strain, and dpi on transmission, measured as the percentage of mosquitoes with disseminated infection that secreted virus in the saliva, were analyzed by using a nominal logistic regression, with separate analyses for each blood meal titer. For both disseminated infection and saliva infection, interactions among each of the 3 independent variables were not fully explored, because some combinations were not included (i.e., some mosquito strain × virus strain × dpi combinations did not yield infected bodies). Virus titer in the saliva was not subject to statistical analysis because of small sample sizes. The effects of feeding mode (mouse versus artificial blood meal), virus titer, and dpi on the percentage of infections, disseminated infection, and transmission in Salvador *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes fed on ZIKV virus strain FSS were analyzed by nominal logistic regression.

AEDES AEGYPTI RESULTS

We detected no statistically significant interactions among mosquito strain, virus strain, and dpi in any analysis of infection, dissemination, or transmission after mosquitoes fed on an artificial blood meal. Frequently, dpi significantly affected infection, dissemination, and transmission as expected based on the need for replication and dissemination in the mosquito, so these data are not presented in detail here.

When *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes were fed on artificial blood meals at doses of 5 or 6 log₁₀ FFU/mL of ZIKV, DAK AR 41525 (Figure 3.1, panels B, C; Figure 3.2, panels B, C; Figure 3.3, panels B, C) produced a significantly higher percentage of infection than did the same titers of strain FSS and MEX1–7 (Figure 3.1, panels B, C; Figure 3.2, panels B, C; Figure 3.3, panels B, C) across all 3 strains of *Ae. aegypti* (p<0.001 at 5 log₁₀ FFU/mL, p<0.002 at 6 log₁₀ FFU/mL). In addition, at the 2 higher doses, disseminated DAK AR

41525 infections produced a higher percentage of infectious saliva (p<0.004 at 5 \log_{10} FFU/mL, p<0.0001 at 6 \log_{10} FFU/mL). DAK AR 41525, however, did not result in a higher percentage of infections resulting in dissemination to the legs (a proxy for the hemocoel). At an artificial blood meal concentration of \approx 4 \log_{10} FFU/mL, we found no significant difference among the 3 ZIKV strains in infection, dissemination, or transmission. For all artificial blood meal concentrations, FSS 13025 and MEX 1–7 produced similar infection, dissemination, and transmission percentages in each mosquito population.



Figure 3.1 Vector Competence of *Aedes aegypti* (Salvador, Brazil F2) for Zika viruses

Infection, disseminated infection, and transmission of 3 Zika virus strains by *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes from Salvador, Brazil, after artificial blood meals with a concentration of 4 log₁₀ (A-C), 5 log₁₀ (D-F), or 6 log₁₀ (G-I) focus-forming units/mL.



Figure 3.2 Vector Competence of *Aedes aegypti* (Salvador, Brazil F6) for Zika viruses

Infection, disseminated infection, and transmission of 3 Zika virus strains by *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes from the Dominican Republic after artificial blood meals with a concentration of 4 log₁₀ (A-C), 5 log₁₀ (D-F), or 6 log₁₀ (G-I) focus-forming units/mL.

Figure 3.3 Vector Competence of *Aedes aegypti* (Rio Grande Valley F4) for Zika viruses

Infection, disseminated infection, and transmission of 3 Zika virus strains by *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes from the Dominican Republic after artificial blood meals with a concentration of 4 log₁₀ (A-C), 5 log₁₀ (D-F), or 6 log₁₀ (G-I) focus-forming units/mL.

When *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes were fed on artificial blood meals at doses of $\approx 4, 5$, or 6 log₁₀ FFU/mL of Zika virus, a significantly greater percentage of mosquitoes from the DR (Figure 3.2) became infected than from the RGV (Figure 3.3) and Salvador populations (Figure 3.1) (p<0.001 at 4 and 5 log₁₀ FFU/mL, p<0.002 at 6 log₁₀ FFU/mL). At doses of 5 and 6 log₁₀ FFU/mL, a greater percentage of *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes from the DR with

disseminated infections had infectious saliva (p<0.004 at 5 log₁₀ FFU/mL, p<0.0001 at 6 log₁₀ FFU/mL). *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes from the DR, however, did not have significantly higher percentages of infections that disseminated. For all artificial blood meal doses and Zika virus strains, *Ae. aegypti* from Salvador and the RGV had similar infection, dissemination, and transmission percentages.

Because virus titers and sampling days for mosquitoes fed on mice (4, 6, and 7) \log_{10} FFU/mL sampled 7 and 14 days post-feeding) and artificial blood meals (4, 5, and 6 log₁₀ FFU/mL sampled 2, 4, 7, 10, and 14 dpi) did not completely overlap, we first compared mosquito infection only for blood meal titers (≈ 4 and 6 log₁₀ FFU/mL) and dpi (7, 14 dpi) that coincided between the 2 feeding methods Figure 3.1, panels A, C; Figure 3.4). A nominal logistic regression using these data (N = 81) showed no significant interactions among the independent variables; virus titer (χ^2 24.3, df = 1, p<0.0001) and feeding method (χ^2 9.7, df = 1, p<0.0019) significantly affected the likelihood of infection, whereas dpi did not ($\chi^2 0.33$, df = 1, p = 0.56). Using this same dataset, we found that virus titer, feeding method, and dpi all significantly affected dissemination from infected bodies to legs (N = 50, p<0.0001 for all 3 variables). Because only 8 mosquitoes in this group produced infected saliva, we did not attempt analysis on this small sample. However, it was striking that only mosquitoes fed on mice produced infected saliva. An analysis using all data from Salvador mosquitoes fed on Zika virus strain FSS 13025 in artificial blood meals and mice revealed a significant effect of all 3 independent variables on infection (p<0.0001 for all comparisons), with infection being greater at higher blood meal titers and later time points after infection and from blood meals acquired from mice.

Figure 3.4 Vector Competence of *Aedes aegypti* (Salvador, Brazil F2) for ZIKV FSS13025 via viremic bloodmeal

Infection, disseminated infection, and transmission of the Zika virus strain FSS13025 by *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes from Salvador, Brazil, after blood meals from infected A129 mice with viremic titers of 4 log₁₀, 6 log₁₀, or 7 log₁₀ focus-forming units/mL.

Ae. aegypti mosquitoes from Salvador exhibited a minimum EIP of 10 days after artificial infection with Zika virus strain DAK AR 41525 at 5 and 6 log₁₀ FFU/mL and 14 days after infection with FSS 13025 or MEX1–7 strains at 6 log₁₀ FFU/mL and DAK AR 41525 at 4 log₁₀ FFU/mL. *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes from the DR exhibited an EIP of 10 days after artificial infection with Zika virus strain DAK AR 41525 at 5 and 6 log₁₀ FFU/mL and 14 days after infection with FSS 13025 at 5 or 6 log₁₀ FFU/mL, MEX1– 7 strains at all 3 doses, and DAK AR 41525 at 4 log₁₀ FFU/mL. *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes from the RGV did not effectively transmit FSS 13025 or MEX1–7 at any titer (only 1 positive MEX1–7 saliva sample on 10 dpi) but showed an EIP of 7 days with strain DAK AR 41525 at 6 log₁₀ FFU/mL, 10 days at 5 log₁₀ FFU/mL, and 14 days at 4 log₁₀ FFU/mL. Mosquitoes infected through murine blood meals showed an EIP of 7 days after a 6 or 7 log₁₀ FFU/mL blood meal, and 14 days after a 4 log₁₀ blood meal.

AEDES ALBOPICTUS RESULTS

Comparison of ZIKV Strains

RIO GRANDE AE. ALBOPICTUS

With respect to our analyses, it should be noted that ideally, the virus strains tested in all three populations of mosquitoes would be geographically matched, so as to facilitate easier comparisons. However, on availability, we replaced DakAR 41525 and FSS13025 with modern epidemic strains PRVABC 59 and PB 81 due to their increased public health relevance. Therefore, because virus and mosquito strains were not completely blocked, we could not compare all virus strains among all mosquito strains. Thus we first compared the impact of virus strain, viremia titer in the mouse, and day of extrinsic incubation, as well as interactions among all three factors, on infection of Rio Grande mosquitoes, which fed on MEX 1-7-, FSS 133205-, and DakAR 41525-infected mice. Substantially higher viremia titers were generated in mice infected by the DakAR 41525 strain compared with the other two (Figure 3.5). We found no significant interactions among the three factors, and a significant effect only of virus strain (df = 2, χ^2 = 7.07, P = 0.029), with DakAR 41525 and MEX 1-7 infecting a significantly higher proportion of mosquitoes than FSS 13025. This effect was driven primarily by the greater infectivity of DakAR 41525 and MEX 1-7 at the lower viremia titers. We then compared the effect of the three factors on ZIKV dissemination in infected mosquitoes. This analysis revealed a significant interaction between viral strain and days of extrinsic incubation (df = 2, χ^2 = 10.5, P = 0.005), but no significant interactions among the remaining factors. We therefore conducted a simple effects test of the impact of viral strain and viremia titer for each day of extrinsic incubation (3, 7, 14) individually. There were very few disseminated infections on day 3, precluding comparison, but on days 7 and 14 there were significant effects of both virus strain and viremia titer ($P \le 0.001$ for all comparisons). Virus dissemination increased with increasing viremia titer, and at a comparable viremia titer, the DakAR 41525 strain of ZIKV (1.6 \times 10° FFU/mL) disseminated more efficiently than the FSS 13025 (3.5 × 10° FFU/mL) or MEX 1-7 ($1.0 \times 10^{\circ}$ FFU/mL) strains. Finally, we compared the efficiency of dissemination

by different ZIKV strains following different viremia titers and days of extrinsic incubation. This analysis detected a significant interaction between viremia titer and days of extrinsic incubation (df = 2, χ^2 = 12.8, *P* = 0.002). Thus we conducted a simple effects test of the impact of virus strain and titer at days 7 and 14 of extrinsic incubation (no dissemination was detected at day 3 of extrinsic incubation). This analysis detected no significant differences at day 7 but a significant interaction of virus titer and strain on day 14, with virus secretion into the saliva increasing with viremia titer, and with the DakAR 41525 strain of ZIKV generating a higher percentage of infectious saliva than the other two strains. Overall, these results indicated that the DakAR 41525 disseminated more efficiently and was shed into the saliva more frequently in Rio Grande Valley *Ae*. *albopictus* compared with the MEX 1-7 and FSS 13025 ZIKV strains.

Figure 3.5 Vector Competence of *Ae. albopictus* (Rio Grande Valley, TX, F5) for ZIKV

Infection, disseminated infection, and potential transmission of three Zika virus strains by *Aedes albopictus* from the Rio Grande Valley, TX, following bloodmeal from viremic A129 mice infected with (A, D, G) DakAR 41525 (Senegal, 1984), (B, E, H) FSS13025 (Cambodia, 2010) or (C, F, I) MEX 1-7 (Mexico, 2015) and assays on day 3 (N = nine mosquitoes per virus), day 7 (N = 14), and day 14 (N = 14).

HOUSTON AE. ALBOPICTUS

A similar analysis to the one described earlier detected no significant interactions or main effects of virus strain, virus titer, or days of extrinsic incubation on infection of Houston mosquitos exposed to PB 81, MEX 1-7, and PRVABC 59 ZIKV strains. This analysis detected no significant interactions or main effects of virus strain, virus titer, or days of extrinsic incubation on infection. Analysis of dissemination in infected bodies revealed a three-way interaction among the independent variables. A simple effects test of virus strain at viremia titer = $7.0 \pm 0.2 \log_{10}$ FFU/mL and day 14 of extrinsic incubation showed no differences among the three ZIKV strains. There were no interactions among the three factors on secretion of virus into saliva and only virus strain influenced this outcome, with PRVABC 59 ZIKV shed into saliva more efficiently than the other two strains (df = 2, χ^2 = 17.2, *P* = 0.0002), which failed to produce detectable virus in saliva. Overall, ZIKV strain PRVABC 59 was more efficiently shed into the saliva of Houston *Ae*. *albopictus* compared with PB 81 and MEX 1-7 (Figure 3.6).

Infection, disseminated infection, and potential transmission of three Zika virus strains by *Aedes albopictus* from the Houston, TX, following bloodmeal from viremic A129 mice infected with (A, D) MEX 1-7 (Mexico, 2015), (B, E) PRVABC59 (Puerto Rico, 2015) or (C, F) PB81 (Brazil, 2015) and assays on day 3 (N = 12 mosquitoes per virus), day 7 (N = 15), and day 14 (N = 15).

SALVADOR AE. ALBOPICTUS

Only days of extrinsic incubation significantly influenced infection or dissemination of PB 81 and MEX 1-7 in Salvador mosquitoes (P < 0.003 for both comparisons). Neither virus strain was detected in mosquito saliva (Figure 3).

Infection, disseminated infection, and potential transmission of three Zika virus strains by *Ae. albopictus* from Salvador, Brazil, following bloodmeal from viremic A129 mice infected with (A, C) MEX 1-7 (Mexico, 2015), or (B, D) PB81 (Brazil, 2015) and assays on day 3 (N = 15 mosquitoes per virus), day 7 (N = 15), and day 14 (N = 15).

Comparison of Mosquito Strains

MEX 1-7 ZIKV

Using the same data set that we used to compare virus strains, we next compared the effect of mosquito strain, virus titer, and days of extrinsic incubation on infection by MEX 1-7, the only ZIKV strain fed to all three Ae. albopictus populations. We detected a significant interaction between virus titer and mosquito strain (df = 2, χ^2 = 6.48, P = 0.039). We therefore proceeded to conduct a simple effects test of the impact of mosquito strain and days of extrinsic incubation with a viremia titer of 7.0 \pm 0.2 log₁₀ FFU/mL. This comparison revealed no significant interaction between the two factors and a significant effect only of mosquito strain (df = 2, χ^2 = 43.7, P < 0.0001), with Houston and Rio Grande mosquitoes showing significantly higher susceptibility than Salvador mosquitoes. For dissemination from infected mosquitoes, we detected no significant interactions among factors, with a significant impact of both mosquito strain (df = 2, χ^2 = 16.7, P < 0.0002) and days of extrinsic incubation (df = 1, χ^2 = 59.6, P < 0.0001). As expected, dissemination increased as extrinsic incubation increased. Additionally, dissemination was significantly lower in the Salvador strain of Ae. albopictus than in the two U.S. strains. MEX 1-7 produced detectable virus in the saliva of only the Rio Grande mosquitoes. Overall, only Ae. albopictus from the Rio Grande Valley proved competent for transmission potential of MEX 1-7. However, Ae. albopictus from Houston proved more susceptible to disseminated infections of ZIKV strain MEX 1-7 when compared with mosquitoes from Salvador, Brazil.

PB 81 ZIKV

We then compared the infectivity of ZIKV strain PB 81 in the two mosquito strains tested: Houston and Salvador. We detected a significant interaction between mosquito

strain and days of extrinsic incubation (df = 2, χ^2 = 4.8, *P* = 0.03), so we conducted a simple effects test of the impact of mosquito strain and virus titer for each day of extrinsic incubation, individually. This analysis revealed a significant effect of mosquito strain on days 7 and 14 (*P* < 0.03 for both comparisons), with Houston mosquitoes showing significantly greater susceptibility than Salvador mosquitoes. Dissemination among infected mosquitoes was shaped by a significant three-way interaction among mosquito strain, virus titer, and days of extrinsic incubation, with the general pattern that dissemination increased with virus titer and days of extrinsic incubation, but dissemination was generally higher in Houston mosquitoes. Virus was detected in the saliva of only the Houston mosquitoes. Overall, *Ae. albopictus* from Houston were more competent for transmission of ZIKV strain PB 81 compared with the Salvador, Brazil, population.

SALIVA TITERS

Because *Ae. albopictus* from the Rio Grande Valley and Houston were fed on different sets of ZIKV strains, it was not possible to compare the two mosquito populations. Instead, we compared the saliva titers of three viruses, DakAR 41525, FSS 13025, and MEX 1-7, in Rio Grande mosquitoes that were fed on viremia titers of 8.5, 7.3, and 7.0 log₁₀ FFU/mL, respectively, and sampled on day 14 of extrinsic incubation. All three viruses reached median saliva titers of 1.0 log₁₀ FFU per collection sample and mean titers of 2.1, 1.5, and 1.6 log₁₀ FFU per collection sample in saliva, respectively, which did not differ significantly (Wilcoxon, df = 2, N = 18, P = 0.78). We then compared the saliva titers in Rio Grande mosquitoes fed on the DakAR 41525 strain of ZIKV at three different viremia titers (6.2, 8.5, 8.8 log₁₀ FFU/mL, respectively) and sampled at day 14 of extrinsic incubation; these titers (3.3, 3.7, and 3.6 log₁₀ FFU per collection sample) also did not differ significantly (Wilcoxon test, df = 2, N = 29, P = 0.74). Titers generally increased between

days 7 and 14 of extrinsic incubation, but the large number of negative day 7 samples precluded analysis of titer as a continuous variable.

50% ORAL INFECTIOUS DOSE

The 50% oral infectious dose (OID₅₀) values were interpolated utilizing the method of Reed and Muench when infection encompassed 50% at the doses used in the study. For a majority of *Ae. albopictus* populations fed on ZIKV strains the OID₅₀ could not be calculated due to infection rates exceeding 50%, even at the lowest tested viremia titers (e.g., DakAR 41525). The FSS 13025 strain demonstrated an OID₅₀ of 6.7 log₁₀ FFU/mL for assay on day 7 of extrinsic incubation which decreased to 5.9 log₁₀ FFU/mL by day 14 of extrinsic incubation in Rio Grande population of *Ae. albopictus*. PB 81 exhibited an OID₅₀ of 6.8 log₁₀ FFU/mL for assay on day 3 of extrinsic incubation in Salvador *Ae. albopictus*.

CULEX QUINQUEFASCIATUS AND AEDES TAENIORHYNCHUS RESULTS

Additional vector populations, two *Cx. quinquefasciatus* and one *Ae. taeniorhynchus*, from the Houston area were orally exposed to multiple strains of ZIKV including three American strains (MEX 1-7, MEX 1-44, and PRVABC59), one Asian strain (FSS13025), and one African strain (DakAR41525) via artificial bloodmeal or viremic A129 mice (Table 3.1). Samples were taken up to 17 days post-feed and were found to be altogether negative. No matter the combination of mosquito strain, viral strain, bloodmeal type, or bloodmeal titer, no sample showed positive infection (Table 3.1).

Virus strain	Mosquito species/strain	Blood meal	Dose, log ₁₀ FFU/mL	No./time point	Days tested after feeding
MEX 1–44 (Mexico	Culex quinquefasciatus	Artificial	6	20	10, 17
2015)	(colonized)				

Table 3.1: Experimental Parameters for Cx. quinquefasciatus vector competence

	Aedes taeniorhynchus (colonized)	Artificial	6	20	10, 17
DAK AR 41525 (Senegal 1985)	Cx. quinquefasciatus (colonized)	Artificial	4, 5, 6	20	3, 7, 14
FSS 13025 (Cambodia 2010)	Cx. quinquefasciatus (colonized)	Artificial	4, 5, 6	20	3, 7, 14
	Cx. quinquefasciatus (Houston F2)	Murine	4, 6, 7	5	3, 7, 14
MEX 1–7 (Mexico 2015)	Cx. quinquefasciatus (colonized)	Artificial	4, 5, 6	20	3, 7, 14
	Cx. quinquefasciatus (Houston F2)	Murine	6	26	14
PRABC59 (Puerto Rico 2015)	Cx. quinquefasciatus (Houston F2)	Murine	7	21	14

DISCUSSION

Aedes aegypti

Because no vaccine or therapeutic drugs are available, ZIKV prevention depends on controlling the mosquito vector or avoiding bites. Although some previous studies (92) showed relatively low ZIKV competence in *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes, raising questions about the role of other potential vectors, others have shown this species to be highly competent (89,90). We demonstrated that *Ae. aegypti* mosquito competency as a vector for ZIKV in the Americas varies greatly and depends on mosquito origin, ZIKV strain, and type of blood meal used. Recent studies demonstrated that preexisting DENV antibodies in ZIKV–endemic areas might enhance ZIKV infection in vitro (95) while others show evidence of protection (96) One in vivo study demonstrated that monoclonal antibodies to DENV envelope neutralize Zika virus in vitro and protect immunocompromised mice from lethal infection (97). The role of preexisting immunity to heterologous viruses remains unclear (98); thus, even a moderately competent vector, such as *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes, might be able transmit efficiently because of its highly anthropophilic behavior and ready access to homes without screening or air conditioning in much of Latin America and the Caribbean.

In agreement with previous studies (92), we demonstrated significant variation in competency for ZIKV transmission among *Ae. aegypti* mosquito populations from 3 different parts of the Americas. After artificial blood meals, strains FSS 13025 and MEX1–7 were refractory to transmission in all populations; we detected only 1 positive saliva sample after large oral doses. In contrast, mosquitoes from the DR were susceptible to and able to transmit all 3 ZIKV strains. A similar difference in DENV competency has been noted in comparisons of *Ae. aegypti* mosquito populations from different geographic locations (93). This variation could be due to genetic differences among mosquitoes or differences in microbiome, virome, or immune activation. Understanding differences in control this vector.

In addition to differences in competency among *Ae. aegypti* mosquito populations, we showed a significant difference in infectivity among Zika virus strains. DAK AR 41525 was the only strain capable of disseminating and being transmitted by all mosquito strains. Furthermore, in mosquitoes from the DR, which were susceptible to all 3 ZIKV strains, DAK AR 41525 disseminated the most rapidly and resulted in the greatest proportion of infectious saliva. This finding is surprising given that African ZIKV strains have never been associated with outbreaks involving *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes.

Another contribution of our findings is the higher infectivity from murine blood meals than from artificial meals. Artificial blood meals are known to be less infectious than natural meals, at least in part because of the lack of coagulation and concentration of the virus adjacent to the mid-gut epithelium (97,103). Also, in the case of DENV and St. Louis encephalitis virus, frozen stocks are less infectious for *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes than freshly harvested, cell culture–derived virus (104). The FSS 13025 strain of Zika virus infected only 75% of Salvador *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes at 6 log₁₀ FFU/mL by 14 dpi from an artificial blood meal, with 67% of these infections disseminating, and 0% involving the saliva. In contrast, 14 dpi after feeding on an infected mouse with a 6 log₁₀ FFU/mL viremia, 100% infection occurred; 92% of these were disseminated, and 61% of disseminated infections reached the saliva. With titers as low as 4 log₁₀ FFU/mL in murine blood meals, 40% of mosquitoes became infected, of which 100% were disseminated and had ZIKV detected in saliva. This dramatic difference in competency after artificial versus viremic blood meals undoubtedly contributed to the underestimation of *Ae. aegypti* mosquitoes as a ZIKV vector in previous studies (92).

An important determinant of vectorial capacity is the EIP, that is, the time before a virus can be found in the saliva of a mosquito after an infectious blood meal. A short EIP facilitates rapid spread, whereas a long EIP gives a larger window for mosquito death, including by human intervention. The 7-day minimum EIP we estimated after a murine blood meal, and 7–10 days after an artificial blood meal, are comparable to those of other flaviviruses in mosquitoes incubated at similar temperatures.

Another major factor in vector transmission is the amount of virus inoculated in the saliva, which can affect pathogenesis (105); this value is critical for determining realistic animal model doses. We found saliva titers of up to 4 \log_{10} FFU per collection, with the following mean ±SD \log_{10} FFU/collection for each mosquito–virus strain combination:

Salvador mosquitoes, DAK AR 41525: 2.49 ± 2.93 ; DR mosquitoes, DAK AR 41525: 2.72 ± 3.26 ; DR mosquitoes, MEX1–7: 2.30 ± 2.35 ; RGV mosquitoes, DAK AR: 2.20 ± 1.96 ; Salvador mosquitoes, FSS 13025 infected through a murine blood meal: 2.77 ± 3.00 . Because of the dearth of positive saliva samples, no statistically significant differences were found for these means. These infectious saliva titers are based only on a small number of positive samples after artificial blood meals. Some studies have found that in vitro salivation overestimates the amount of an arbovirus inoculated in vivo (106); others have found the inverse (67). Additional studies are needed to precisely determine the amount of virus transmitted by a ZIKV–infected *Ae. aegypti* mosquito.

Ideally, in investigations of viral adaption to vectors, virus and mosquito origins should be matched. Mosquitoes colonies matching the locations of the ZIKV strains reported here were unavailable. However, vector-adaptive mutations in arboviruses are unlikely to remain geographically isolated because they spread more efficiently (107,88). Therefore, adaptive evolution was investigated on the basis of available mosquitoes with minimal colonization histories, from sites at risk for Zika virus transmission or with reported autochthonous transmission. Surprisingly, despite the use of minimally colonized mosquitoes, most susceptible population of *Ae. aegypti* from the DR had the longest history of 6 generations. Previous studies demonstrated altered DENV-2 susceptibility for *Ae. aegypti* colonized for >4 generations (107).

Although human Zika virus viremia is not well characterized, a Micronesia study found viral RNA concentrations of 900–729,000 RNA copies/mL (94). Recent case studies have estimated ranges of 1.47–2 log₁₀ PFU/mL (95), 0.49–3.39 log₁₀ FFU/mL [49], 2.20–2.75 log₁₀ PFU/mL, and 1.88–2.80 log₁₀ PFU/mL (110). This wide range might reflect the sampling of most patients after peak viremia has passed, which complicates selecting realistic doses for mosquito competency studies. As our artificial blood meal titers were higher than those described during human infection, these results may overestimate the role of these vectors.

Aedes albopictus

These results demonstrate the vector competence of Ae. albopictus from various geographic locations in the Americas for multiple strains of ZIKV, an important component of establishing risk and designing control strategies. To determine the role that Ae. albopictus may play in outbreak settings (vectorial capacity), additional factors such as range, longevity and feeding behaviors, especially as compared with the domestic and highly anthropophilic Ae. aegypti must be considered. Aedes albopictus is widespread throughout many temperate regions of the United States where Ae. aegypti is not typically found, such as the upper Midwest and the northeast (111-113). Anthropophilic and endophilic feeding behaviors of Ae. aegypti, however, make the species more apt at transmitting human arboviruses when compared with the more opportunistic and exophilic blood feeding behavior of Ae. albopictus (111,112). Additionally, the tendency of Ae. aegypti to take multiple blood meals per gonotrophic cycle means these mosquitoes are more likely to become infected and also more likely to transmit to multiple people once infected compared with Ae. albopictus mosquitoes (112,113). ZIKV has been detected in both species during outbreaks, Ae. albopictus in Gabon in 2007 (115) and Ae. aegypti in Mexico in 2015 (109) and Brazil in 2016 (101), indicating that each species may play a role in ZIKV epidemics.

As demonstrated in previous studies with both *Ae. aegypti* and *Ae. albopictus*, we found that vector competence of *Ae. albopictus* varies with the geographic origin of both vector and virus strain. To more accurately reflect natural infection, we used viremic A129 mice, previously shown to be more infectious for mosquitoes than artificial bloodmeals. For example, when *Ae. aegypti* from Salvador, Brazil, were orally infected with 6 log₁₀ FFU/mL of ZIKV (FSS 13025) by artificial bloodmeal, by day 14 of extrinsic incubation, 75% of mosquitoes were infected, with 67% of those infections disseminating, but never with virus detected in the saliva. When the same population of mosquitoes was

infected via a viremic A129 mouse circulating 6 log_{10} FFU/mL, on day 14 of extrinsic incubation all tested mosquitoes were infected, with 92% of infections disseminating and 61% of the disseminated infections reaching the saliva (80). This pronounced difference has been observed with other arboviruses such as western equine encephalitis virus, and is at least partly explained by clotting of blood ingested from an animal resulting in greater viral concentration directly adjacent to the mosquito midgut epithelium (102). Recently, the reduction of infectivity as a result of freeze-thaws was demonstrated for ZIKV infection of *Ae. aegypti* (102). All of these studies support the use of viremic animals for accurately assessing vector competence.

Strikingly, our findings with *Ae. albopictus* from the Rio Grande Valley of Texas corroborate field findings in Gabon during the 2007 outbreak (115). When Rio Grande Valley mosquitoes were exposed to the African lineage ZIKV strain DakAR 41525 at 6 and 8 log₁₀ FFU/mL, they were uniformly infected and developed disseminated infections, such that by day 14 of extrinsic incubation, 60% of mosquitoes had shed virus into their saliva (Figure 1C). Phylogenetically, the Gabon 2007 strain clusters closely with the 1984 Senegal ZIKV strain (DakAR 41525) based on envelope and NS3 genes (113). Additionally, recent studies (116) as well as our own data (80) have also demonstrated efficient transmission of African lineage ZIKV strains by American *Ae. aegypti*. In sum, these data suggest that the African lineage of ZIKV is well adapted for urban transmission by both *Ae. aegypti* and *Ae. albopictus*.

A limitation of our understanding of vector competence for ZIKV is the dearth of data for infectious human viremia profiles, with titers ranging from 0.49 to 3.39 log_{10} infectious particles/mL or 900 to 729, 000 RNA copies/mL (94,109,117), orders of magnitude below the viremia titers to which mosquitoes in our analyses were exposed, and well below our estimated OID₅₀ of both FSS 13025 and PB 81 in *Ae. albopictus* from the Rio Grande and Salvador, Brazil, respectively. Another limitation is that previous studies found that colonization of *Ae. aegypti* and *Ae. albopictus* alters their competence for

DENV (107,115). However, our use of low-generation colonies should have minimized these potential artifacts. Also, ideally our mosquito and virus strains would have been matched, and all possible combinations would have been tested. This was not possible because of logistical constraints and the acquisition of virus and mosquito strains after the study was initiated. For example, on availability, we replaced DakAR 41525 and FSS13025 with recent epidemic strains PRVABC 59 and PB 81 due to their increased public health relevance.

Our data strongly demonstrated that, while all tested populations of *Ae*. *albopictus* proved susceptible to midgut and disseminated infections at varying efficiencies, Houston and Salvador mosquitoes were relatively incapable of transmitting ZIKV. In order for an arbovirus to be transmitted by a competent vector, it must 1) be ingested via a bloodmeal from an infected host; 2) infect epithelial cells of the mosquito midgut; 3) disseminate from the midgut into the hemocoel and infect further tissues; 4) infect the salivary glands; and 5) be shed into acinar cavities for inoculation into a new host upon subsequent feedings (38,119). The relative inability of Houston and Salvador *Ae*. *albopictus* to transmit ZIKV strains, despite the presence of disseminated virus in hemocoel, suggests the possibility of a salivary gland infection or salivary egress barrier [66]. In the case of the former, ZIKV may be failing to infect secondary amplification tissues such as the fat bodies, hemocytes, nerve, or muscle tissues following midgut escape, preventing sufficient replication to efficiently infect the salivary glands. Anatomic analyses utilizing ZIKV reporter systems (59) in transmission-competent versus transmission-incompetent *Ae*. *albopictus* populations are needed to address these hypotheses.

The explosive spread of ZIKV throughout tropical and subtropical regions of the Americas has raised concerns that mosquitoes other than *Ae. aegypti* may be transmitting ZIKV [68]. In our study, *Ae. albopictus* from Salvador, Brazil, orally exposed to two American strains of ZIKV (MEX 1-7 and PB 81) at high titers (6 or 7 log₁₀ FFU/mL) shed no virus into saliva, even by day 14 of extrinsic incubation. Although we tested only one

Brazilian mosquito population, the lack of transmission competence in the population tested with high viremia titers, coupled with a lack of field data from Mexico and Brazil reporting ZIKV positive *Ae. albopictus* pools, calls a significant role for this species into question, especially when taken together with previous reports on the competency of *Ae. albopictus* from Jurjuba, Rio de Janeiro. Of the seven populations of mosquitoes (all of which were populations from the Americas, five *Ae. albopictus* proved to be the least susceptible, although the transmission potential of this population was not tested (116).

A critical component of viral pathogenesis is the infectious dose, or the saliva titer for arboviruses (104). We found a range of saliva titers, with a maximum titer of 3.72 log₁₀ FFU/collection of DakAR 41525 in a Rio Grande Valley mosquito sample. Analyses in other arboviruses have reported a large variation in saliva titers dependent on the virus and vector in question. For example, when the *alphavirus* Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus (VEEV) was used to infect Ae. albopictus and Ae. taeniorhynchus (Wiedemann) and saliva was collected in vitro, the resultant titers ranged from 0.2 to 1.1 \log_{10} and 0.2 to 3.2 log₁₀ plaque forming units (PFU) per collection, respectively (121). Further analyses comparing in vitro saliva collection of VEEV to in vivo inoculation revealed that artificial salivation (mean 74 PFU) overestimates the in vivo inoculum by nearly 10-fold (mean 11 PFU) (104). Similar analyses of in vivo saliva deposition of WNV from four different species of mosquitoes (*Culex tarsalis* Coquillet, *Culex pipiens* Linnaeus, *Aedes* japonicus [Theobald], and Aedes triseriatus [Say]) into a murine host yielded a range of saliva titers $(3.4-6.1 \log_{10} \text{ PFU})$ (105), whereas a separate analysis of WNV utilizing saliva collected from Cx. tarsalis in vitro yielded a titer of 1.41 \log_{10} PFU (122). Further complicating in vitro collection of mosquito saliva is the finding that mosquitoes demonstrate host-seeking behavior until imbibing $2.5-3.5 \,\mu$ L of blood (120). In vitro saliva collections (our own as well as previous reports (80,81) comprise minimal volumes (≤ potential for mosquitoes to imbibe a significant percentage of expectorated saliva). To account for potential volume loss, we report our results as FFU per collection, as opposed to FFU/mL. In summary, disparate methodologies of saliva collection from different mosquito populations infected with different viruses limit what conclusions can be drawn from salivary viral titers and underscore the necessity for standardization of methodologies.

Like other vector competence studies (92), our data suggest significant variation as a function of mosquito origin and viral strain. Laboratory competency studies have produced disparate findings, with *Ae. albopictus* populations being shown to be both poor and relatively competent vectors (124,125). These disparities underscore the need for further studies in both the laboratory and the field to determine the potential role that *Ae. albopictus* may play in future ZIKV outbreaks, especially in temperate climates where *Ae. aegypti* cannot survive cold winters. Variables among this and other vector competence studies reported in the literature, such as colonization, mosquito microbiome composition, and genetics differences, should be further explored to determine their impact on ZIKV transmission.

Culex quinquefasciatus

While almost all published results support Ae. aegypti and potentially Ae. that Cx. *albopictus* as urban vectors, some articles (126-129)suggest quinquefasciatus may serve as a ZIKV vector. Accurately identifying the vector of a pathogen enables public health agencies to implement appropriate control strategies and inform citizens of proper prevention measures (130). Additionally, establishing the vector for an emerging pathogen paves the way for researchers to advance our understanding of virus-vector interactions and pursue novel methods of control. In contrast, erroneously incriminating a vector could lead to misdirected use of limited government funds, diversion of research efforts and misinforming the public through misdirected media and educational programs.

Traditional criteria for arthropod vector incrimination include: (i) demonstration of feeding or other effective contact with pathogen's host; (ii) association in time and space of the vector and the pathogen-infected host; (iii) repeated demonstration of natural infection of the vector and (iv) experimental transmission of the pathogen by the vector (130).

For ZIKV transmission in the Americas, criterion 3 has been met only for Ae. *aegypti*, with detection of naturally infected mosquitoes with titers compatible with transmission competence in Mexico (109) and Brazil (115). Ae. albopictus has also been shown to be capable of laboratory transmission (81,124,131-133). Although no field infections have been reported for Ae. albopictus in the Americas, they were detected during a 2007 Gabon outbreak (114). In locations where Ae. aegypti has been found infected at high rates in the Americas, testing of Cx. quinquefasciatus, typically the most common urban tropical mosquito, was unsuccessful aside from three pools collected in Recife, Brazil described by Guedes et al. (90). However, the ZIKV RNA levels measured in these Recife pools, reflected in high Ct values (37.6-38.15) representing <10 infectious units in typical RT-qPCR assays, are incompatible with transmission-competent mosquitoes, which typically have viral titers several orders of magnitude higher (81,131-133). Even naturally infected mosquitoes without viral dissemination to the salivary glands typically have higher titers (133) than reported by some of the Culex transmission studies (90). Thus, the wild-caught *Culex* mosquito pools were likely contained trace amounts of residual viremic blood in their guts or legs or other dislodged appendages from other infected mosquitoes of different species, or were false-positives.

Many other studies have found no transmission competence (131,132,134,135), even after examining several combinations of geographic strains of mosquito as well as ZIKV, along with different methods of oral exposure. These include other studies from Brazil with colonies established in 2016 and another study from China (132). Even after intrathoracic inoculation, generally the most permissive route for arbovirus infection of mosquitoes, *Culex* mosquitoes were found to be refractory to disseminated infection (117,136). Although some of these studies found infection of the midgut without dissemination to the saliva, the majority found no indication of any infection after oral exposure. Many of these ZIKV-refractory populations tested are highly competent for West Nile and St. Louis encephalitis flaviviruses, so the specific ZIKV block in these populations would need to be restricted to most but not all *Cx. quinquefasciatus* populations to explain the results of the *Culex* transmission studies. In addition, *Cx. quinquefasciatus* from Recife challenged in another study with the same BRPE243/2015 ZIKV strain used by one study (126) as well as with two other ZIKV strains, were consistently refractory to oral infection (137).

The discrepancy between the negative results from so many published studies and the questionable findings of a select few studies should engender caution in interpretation and conclusions reported by media and public health authorities unless they are verified by more robust results including detection of genuinely transmission-competent mosquitoes in nature. Until further data are collected and other groups can replicate the *Culex*-positive transmission findings, it is important that public education and interventions remain focused on the conclusion supported by the vast majority of studies: *Ae. aegypti* is the only mosquito species for which we have strong evidence of ZIKV transmission in the Americas.

Chapter 4: The Effect of Colonization on *Aedes aegypti* Vector Competence and Microbiome

RATIONALE

As the primary vector of a number of arboviruses, *Aedes aegypti* is of significant concern to global health and emerging infectious diseases (32). Studying the vector competence, the susceptibility of a mosquito to infection and subsequent transmission ability of a given agent, is one of the most important tools available to researchers as it can help identify the mosquito species potentially responsible for transmission and give insight into vector-virus interactions (32,37). These studies inform major vector control responses and can lead to novel vector intervention strategies. Studies that come to unsupported conclusions may lead to misappropriation of funds and research effort, and undue public concern.

While vector competence is only one component of vectorial capacity, which gives a more complete picture of the interaction between vector, virus, and human populations (as described in chapter 1), vector competence can be readily studied in laboratory settings. This, combined with the ease of manipulation of *Ae. aegypti* compared to other vector species, leads to a large number of publications examining vector competence (32). This was especially evident following the ZIKV outbreak in the Americas (32). With such interest and research effort focused on examining vector competence, it is evidently important that the mosquito populations being used for this work resemble mosquitoes in the wild as closely as possible. However, for the functions of mass-rearing, ease of use, and other experimental purposes, mosquitoes are reared under controlled insectary conditions for multiple generations before being used in experiments.

During these generations of rearing in the insectary, mosquitoes can quickly become adapted to laboratory settings. As discussed in chapter one, the mating (50,53),

development (49), genes (62-63), microbiome (56-58), and vector competence (68-70) have all been shown to change as mosquitoes spend generations in an insectary setting. Furthermore, one large scale study found that observed changes were not consistent across replicate populations, suggesting a strong founder effect (49), a reduction in genetic diversity in a population due to starting with a small number of individuals. This makes predicting and accounting for these changes even more difficult.

Many of the existing studies regarding the colonization of mosquitoes only examine single timepoints of colonized populations to either field populations or populations from earlier in colonization (49,56,58-63,67-70). While this does provide some valuable data regarding overall effects of colonization, it does not allow for examining how quickly the process of adaptation to laboratory conditions occurs. Additionally, when examining multiple factors, single timepoints make it more difficult to establish cause-effect relationships that may happen temporally over multiple generations. This is particularly important when considering vector competence, which is impacted by a number of underlying factors (37).

A significant factor of recent focus is the mosquito microbiome (64). The microbiome is capable of directly interacting with viruses within the mosquito as well as interacting with the mosquito immune system, activating pathways which are then primed to additionally respond to viruses (64). As both the microbiome (56-58) and vector competence (68-70) have been shown to be altered following colonization, understanding changes to these factors may help elucidate interactions that lead to the colonized phenotype.

In order to test the hypothesis that vector colonization would result in a decrease in microbiome diversity and an overall increase in vector competence, we observed the colonization process of field-collected mosquitoes for ten generations. *Aedes aegypti* were collected from Rio Grande Valley, Texas and reared under standard insectary conditions for ten generations. Each generation, beginning with the field-collected mosquitoes, vector

competence was determined for ZIKV. The microbiome of mosquitoes was also characterized for several of the generations to examine any trends in changes as well as any correlation with changes in vector competence. The microbiome sequencing was done prior to any exposure to blood meal or ZIKV in order to examine the mosquitoes' baseline populations.

CHAPTER METHODS

Viruses

The virus used throughout these studies was derived from the PRVABC59 full length infectious clone, as described in Chapter 2 and listed in Table 2-1. A single, largescale viral stock was prepared at the start of the study and the same stock was used throughout all vector competence experiments for subsequent mosquito generations. The stock was checked by focus forming assay, as described in Chapter 2, every 6 months to ensure that viral titer had not significantly dropped.

Mosquitoes

The mosquitoes used throughout these studies were a colony started from fieldcollected adults (F0 throughout this Chapter), as described in Chapter 2 and listed in Table 2-2. Adult mosquitoes were collected using BG Sentinel traps baited with dry ice in Weslaco, Texas in June 2018. *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes were identified and sorted based on morphology. For microbiome sequencing of the F0 generation, 20 females were randomly selected once all *Ae. aegypti* from traps had been sorted; 114 females were used for the competence study of the F0 generation. Remaining females (>200 individuals) and all males (>200 individuals) were maintained as a colony to minimize founder effect.

Artificial Bloodmeals

Artificial blood meals containing ZIKV were prepared at $\sim 1 \times 10^{6}$ FFU/mL. Blood meals comprised 1% (wt./vol) sucrose, 7.5% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 12.5% washed

sheep erythrocytes (Colorado Serum Company), 900 μ M adenosine triphosphate, and viral dilutions in DMEM containing 2% FBS and 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin. After 1 hour of feeding, mosquitoes were cold-anesthetized, and engorged females were extrinsically incubated as described in Chapter 2.

Microbiome Sequencing

High-throughput sequencing of the bacterial 16S ribosomal RNA gene was performed using genomic DNA isolated from each sample. Sequencing libraries for each isolate were generated using universal 16S rRNA V3-V4 region primers in accordance with Illumina 16S rRNA metagenomic sequencing library protocols (71). The samples were barcoded for multiplexing using Nextera XT Index Kit v2. Sequencing was performed on an Illumina MiSeq instrument using a MiSeq Reagent Kit v2 (500-cycles).

To identify the presence of known bacteria, sequences were analyzed using the CLC Genomics Workbench 12.0.3 Microbial Genomics Module. Reads containing nucleotides below the quality threshold of 0.05 (using the modified Richard Mott algorithm) and those with two or more unknown nucleotides or sequencing adapters were trimmed out. Reference based OTU picking was performed using the SILVA SSU v132 97% database (72). Sequences present in more than one copy but not clustered to the database were placed into de novo OTUs (97% similarity) and aligned against the reference database with 80% similarity threshold to assign the "closest" taxonomical name where possible. Chimeras were removed from the dataset if the absolute crossover cost was three using a k-mer size of six. Alpha diversity was measured using Shannon entropy and total number of genera, rarefaction sampling without replacement, and with 100 replicates at each point. Plots show the rarefication at 2106 reads. Statistical

56

comparisons were performed using Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's multiple comparisons tests. Beta diversity was calculated using the Bray-Curtis diversity measure (OTU level. Differentially abundant bacteria (genus level) were identified using analysis of composition of microbiomes (ANCOM) (73) with a significance level of P < 0.05, while values quantifying fold change were obtained using the log2 fold change formula (74).

RESULTS

Vector Competence

The infection, dissemination, and saliva infection status of mosquitoes was determined at 10 days after oral exposure to ZIKV. Generations F0 through F6 showed no statistically significant differences in rates of infection, dissemination, or transmission potential. Generations F7 through F10 showed increased infection, dissemination, and transmission as compared to generations F0-F6. There were no statistically significant differences in generations F7-F10 in rates of infection, dissemination, or transmission potential. The Rockefeller strain mosquitoes exhibited higher rates of infection, dissemination, and transmission than any generation F0-F10; this difference was especially pronounced in rates of transmission (Figure 4.1).

Figure 4.1 Vector Competence of 10 Generations of *Ae. aegypti* for ZIKV

Infection, disseminated infection, and potential transmission of three Zika virus strains by a colony of *Aedes aegypti* originating from Weslaco, Texas, 10 days post-feeding (DPF) artificial blood meal containing 6 log₁₀ focus forming units (FFU) per mL of ZIKV PRVABC59 FLIC.

Microbiome Alpha Diversity

The effect of colonization on microbiome diversity was examined using alpha diversity analysis by comparing the total number of genera and the Shannon diversity of generations F0-F5, F7, F10 of the Weslaco strain. Shannon diversity accounts for both abundance and evenness of bacteria species present in a population. Rockefeller strain mosquitoes were used as a heavily colonized comparison group. Sequencing and analysis was biased towards early generations in order to observe changes to microbiome diversity that may have occurred within a few generations in the colonization process. The total number of genera was determined for each of these generations (Figure 4.2) and no significant trend was found. Differences existed between F5 and F0, F1, F7, and

Rockefeller. F5 had a higher number of genera than each of these groups, except F1 (Figure 4.2). The Shannon Entropy was calculated (Figure 4.3) and the only significant difference was found between F1 and F5, with F1 exhibiting higher Shannon entropy than F5 (Figure 4.3).

Total Number Zero Excluded

Figure 4.2 Total Number of Genera Detected in Microbiome of Multiple Generations of *Ae. aegypti*

The number of genera in generations F0, F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F7, and F10 of the Weslaco strain and the Rockefeller strain of *Aedes aegypti*. Dashed lines represent the mean and dotted lines the interquartile range.

Shannon Entropy Zero Excluded

Figure 4.3 Shannon Diversity in Microbiome of Multiple Generations of *Ae. aegypti*

Shannon diversities for generations F0, F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F7, and F10 of the Weslaco strain as well as the Rockefeller strain of *Aedes aegypti*. Dashed lines represent the mean and dotted lines the interquartile range.

Microbiome Beta Diversity

The effect of colonization on bacterial structure was determined using beta diversity analysis by comparing composition of microbiomes of individual mosquitoes from generations F0, F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F7, and F10 of the Weslaco strain. The Rockefeller strain was used as a heavily colonized group for comparison. Sequencing and analysis was biased towards early generations in order to observe changes to microbiome structure that may have occurred within a few generations in the colonization process. Generation groups exhibited clustering patterns of microbiome, with some generations clustering more tightly than others (Figure 4.4). This clustering is particularly evident with the F0 generation which shows little clustering and the Rockefeller strain which clusters tightly (Figure 4.4). The F0 generation and the Rockefeller also exhibit very different structures, as exhibited by the distance between these groups in the principal coordinates analysis (Figure 4.4).

Figure 4.4 Principal Coordinates Analysis of Multiple Generations of Ae. aegypti

Principle Coordinates Analysis at the operational taxonomic level (OTU) level in order to compare identified OTU similarities between generations. Each point represents the microbiome of an individual mosquito.

Analysis of Composition of Microbes (ANCOM)

The effect of colonization on microbiome composition as well as association between competence level and certain OTUs was determined by comparing abundance of identified OTUs among mosquito groups (F0-F5 as low competence; F7 and F10 as high competence). Twenty-seven OTUs were identified with statistically different abundances
between low competence (F0-F5) and high competence (F7, F10) generation groups (Figure 4.5). Six of these OTUs were at a higher abundance in the low competence group and the remaining 21 showed a higher abundance in the high competence group. The OTUs and corresponding competence group are listed in Table 4.1.



Figure 4.5 Analysis of Composition of Microbes Comparing High Vector Competence and Low Vector Competence Generation Groups

ANCOM of bacteria that exhibited significantly different abundances between high

competence (F7, F10) (left) and low competence (F0-F5) (right) generation groups.

ΟΤυ	Competence Group with Higher Abundance
Rothia	High Competence
Porphyromonas	High Competence
Taibaiella	High Competence
Bacillus	High Competence
Staphylococcus	High Competence
Granulicatella	High Competence
Fusobacterium	High Competence
Gluconobacter	High Competence
Delftia	High Competence
Neisseria	High Competence
Cedecea	High Competence
Kluyvera	Low Competence
Acinetobacter	High Competence
Luteolibacter	Low Competence
Nocardioides	Low Competence
Prevotella	High Competence
Emticicia	High Competence
Gemelia	High Competence
Camobacter	High Competence
Streptococcus	High Competence
Ambiguous taxa 09	High Competence
Sphingobium	Low Competence
Methylophilus	Low Competence
Ambiguous taxa 14	Low Competence
Escherichia Shiqella	High Competence

Table 4.1: Summary of ANCOM Results

Raotella	High Competence
Pseudomonas	High Competence

DISCUSSION

Vector Competence

This study is the first report tracking colonization of Ae. aegypti over the course of multiple generations and examining correlations with vector competence. While other studies (49,56,58-63,67-70) have identified changes when comparing low colonized to high colonized populations, they do not provide insight into how rapidly these changes occur and minimize correlations that can be drawn to other factors. Contrary to the hypothesis that changes to vector competence would occur slowly over the course of colonization, our data show an abrupt increase in vector competence after the first 6 generations of insectary-reared mosquitoes showed little or no changes from the fieldcollected population (Figure 4.1). Following this abrupt increase in vector competence, levels of infection, dissemination, and transmission were stable through the end of the study at F10 (Figure 4.1). This suggests a change occurred to an underlying factor between F6 and F7 that was then maintained through F10. As there was no change to rearing protocol between these generations and the colony experienced no bottleneck or stochastic founder effect, shown to rapidly alter mosquito populations (49) is unlikely, though not impossible. One explanation for the abrupt change in vector competence is an increase or decrease in certain bacterial populations, which may contribute to vector competence (64). To examine this possibility, microbiome analysis was conducted on generations grouped into low vector competence (F0-F6) and high vector competence (F7-F10) rather than analyzed as individual generations, discussed below.

Importantly, even the most colonized F10 generation in this study exhibited lower vector competence than the Rockefeller strain. With each stage of vector competence (infection, dissemination, transmission), the contrast between the Rockefeller strain and

Weslaco strain became more evident (Figure 4.1), suggesting the Rockefeller strain has particularly low midgut barriers and salivary gland barriers compared to the other mosquitoes examined. This heavily colonized strain is still used throughout many labs and my results provide further evidence that it is a strikingly poor model for vector competence studies, unless the aim of a study is to examine a virus in the most permissive vector environment.

Microbiome

Previous studies (56) have established that laboratory-reared mosquitoes have distinct microbiome structures as compared to their field counterparts, but this is the first study to examine how quickly this change occurs and its possible role in changes to vector competence that also occur during colonization. While changes to alpha diversity, as measured by both total number of genera and by Shannon diversity, continued to occur throughout the first 5 colonized generations (Figures 4.2, 4.3), the F7 and F10 generations were comparable to one another. This suggests that the microbiome may be more prone to changes during early colonization and then stabilizes into an insectary-reared phenotype. This is further supported by the alpha diversity of the Rockefeller strain, which is comparable to both F7 and F10.

The beta diversity shows clustering patterns for each generation, but very few trends in terms of how tightly clusters occur over the course of colonization, or any major separation of most microbiomes (Figure 4.4). The F0 group is the least tightly clustered generation, which is to be expected as they were field collected and were not controlled for any factors other than species and sex. All insectary reared mosquitoes were controlled for age, larval water, larval feeding, and other rearing conditions and had no exposure to sugar or blood meals prior to collection, which likely results in a more similar microbiome. The Rockefeller strain was tightly clustered and was the most divergent group.

The differential abundance results give insight into specific OTUs associated with increased colonization and their possible role in vector competence. Of the 21 OTUs identified with a difference in abundance between high and low vector competence, only 6 of them exhibited an increased abundance in the low competence group (Figure 4.5, Table 4.1). Less than half (11 of 27) of these OTUs have been previously studied in the context of the mosquito microbiome. Those that appeared in the literature are listed in Table 4.2 along with the vector species in which they were identified and corresponding reference. While some OTUs had only been identified in one or very few prior publications, others, such as Staphylococcus and Pseudomonas were found throughout much of the literature on mosquito microbiomes. However, almost none of the listed publications identify the role these bacteria play in vector competence. One notable exception is Kalappa et al. (138) which examined the role of the midgut microbiome of An. stephensi vector competence in *Plasmodium berghei* infection. Rather than examining the role of specific bacteria, this study found that treating the mosquito microbiome with antibiotics to clear much of the microbiome resulted in higher levels of infection as compared to infection with the native microbiome (138).

ΟΤυ	Previous Description In Mosquito
Bacillus	Anopheles stephensi (138), Aedes albopictus (139,140), Ae. aegypti (139,140), Culex spp. (141), An. culicifacis (142), An. stephensi (143), An.
Staphylococcus	An. culcifacies (142), An. stephensi (144), Cx. quinquefasciatus (145), An. darlingi larval water (146), An. crucians (147), An. punctipennis (147), An. quadrimaculatus,(147), Ae. spp. (147),
	An. spp. (147), Cx spp. (147), Cs.spp. (147), Ps. spp. (147)
Gluconobacter	An. crucians (147), An. punctipennis (147), An. quadrimaculatus,(147), Ae.

Table 4.2: Previous Literature on OTUs of Interest

	spp. (147), An. spp. (147), Cx spp. (147),
	Cs.spp. (147), Ps. spp. (147)
Delftia	An. culicifacies (142), Ae. albopictus
	(148)
Cedecea	Ae. aegypti (149), An. gambiae (150)
Kluyvera	Ae. aegypti (151)
Acinetobacter	An. stephensi (138), Ae. aegypti (140,
	152), An. stephensi (143), An.
	maculipennis (143), An. culicifacies
	(142), Cx. pipiens (153), Coquillettidia
	perturbans (153), An. spp. (154)
Prevotella	An. stephensi (138)
Streptococcus	An. culicifacies (155), Cx. pipiens
	(156,157)
Escherichia	An. darlingi larval water (146), Cx. spp.
Shigella	(141), Cx. quinquefasciatus (170)
	An. spp. (154), An. darlingi larval water
	(146), Ae. aegypti (146, 152, 147), An.
Pseudomonas	culcifacies (142, 155), An. stephensi
	(143, 138, 148), An. maculipennis (143),
	An. albimanus (146), Ae. koreicus (147).
	An. gambiae (149)

Without previous studies on any of the OTUs associated with higher or lower vector competence, it becomes difficult to test the hypothesis that observed changes in vector competence were due to an increase or decrease in certain OTUs. Additional studies examining each OTU and possibly multiple as a community structure would give significant insight specific roles played by the microbiome.

As a whole, these studies exemplify some of the rapid changes that can occur during early colonization of *Ae. aegypti* and identify possible microbiome mechanisms for the changes observed in vector competence. Unexpectedly, the change in vector competence occurred rapidly and resulted in two competence phenotypes: low (F0-F6) and high (F7-F10). In this population, vector competence significantly increased abruptly after 6 generations of insectary rearing with later generations exhibiting increased rates of infection, dissemination, and transmission for ZIKV which remained elevated through generation F10. However, even the generation that exhibited increased vector competence were more refractory than the Rockefeller strain. While there was not a significant decrease in microbiome diversity as hypothesized, a number of bacteria exhibited significant differences in abundance between the low and high competence groups, interesting targets for further experiments to examine specific interactions and effects on vector competence.

Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Directions

SUMMARY STATEMENT

Aedes aegypti is the vector of multiple arboviruses, including yellow fever virus, dengue virus, and Zika virus (ZIKV) (35). Highly anthropophilic and anthropophagic behavior (37) paired with competence for these viruses (35) makes *Ae. aegypti* one of the most important pathogen vectors worldwide. Until 2003, ZIKV had only caused 14 reported cases (87). Following a series of outbreaks in the South Pacific, ZIKV emerged into the Americas in 2013, later detected in Brazil in 2015 and declared a public health emergency of international concern when it was linked to microcephaly and other birth defects (30). ZIKV rapidly spread through the Americas due to large, naïve human populations in dense urban centers with high populations of *Ae. aegypti* (21). This outbreak rapidly brought international global attention to both the virus and its vector, resulting in a large number of publications focused on the vector competence of *Ae. aegypti* for ZIKV (35). While other mosquito species were also examined, much of the research was focused on *Ae. aegypti* due to its relevance as a vector of human arboviruses, driven partially by its anthropophilic behavior, as described in Chapter 1. My research described above aimed to:

- 1. Determine the vector competence of *Ae. aegypti* as well as *Ae. albopictus* and other suspected vectors for ZIKV, including differences in competence associated with strain of virus and strain of vector species
- 2. Examine changes that occur during early colonization of *Ae. aegypti*, including vector competence for ZIKV and the microbiome as a possible mechanism to changes observed.

The hypothesis driving this research was: colonization increases the vector competence of *Aedes aegypti* for Zika virus and is associated with changes to the microbiome. To this end, these studies support the following main conclusions:

- Both Ae. aegypti and Ae. albopictus are competent vectors of ZIKV. Their vector competence, as described by their ability to become infected and transmit virus, varied by strain of virus and strain of mosquito. Culex quinquefasciatus is not a competent vector species for ZIKV, though this conclusion is at odds with a small number of other studies (90). These other studies, however, used very highly colonized mosquitoes and/or unique strains of virus that are unavailable to other labs for confirmatory testing.
- 2. All competent vectors were the most susceptible to African strain DakAR 41525, with higher levels of infection, dissemination, and transmission compared to Asian and American strains, which does not support the hypothesis that ZIKV had mutated for increased transmission by urban vector species since leaving Africa in the distant past.
- 3. During early colonization, there was a significant increase in vector competence of *Ae. aegypti* for ZIKV. Rather than occurring gradually, however, the competence remained similar to that of field-collected mosquitoes for 6 insectary-reared generations before suddenly and significantly increasing, and remaining increased through the 10th generation. The vector competence of all study generations remained significantly below that of the highly colonized Rockefeller strain.

The microbiome of *Ae. aegypti* underwent significant changes during early colonization, including changes to diversity and composition. For the first 5 colonized generations, diversity continued to fluctuate but F7 and F10 were comparable, which were comparable to the diversity of the Rockefeller strain. In comparing the bacterial composition of early low competence generations and later high competence generations, a total of 27 bacterial OTUs was identified with different abundance between the two group.

My studies are the first to examine the process of colonization and its effects on both vector competence and microbiome. While other studies have addressed effects of colonization, they have examined colonization as an endpoint rather than a process (49,47,58-63,67-71). Knowing how quickly these changes occur as well as correlations between changes allows researchers to begin identifying causative relationships, as well as identify ways to delay or even reverse effects of colonization.

Previous studies (49,57) examining vector colonization have examined ways to minimize certain effects of colonization. In a study examining changes to the microbiome, *Akorli et al.* (57) found that *An. gambiae* insectary-reared in field-collected water rather than tap water helped conserve more of the microbiome from earlier generations. By generation F10, mosquitoes reared in field water conserved 50% of the F5 bacterial genera compared to 38% in mosquitoes reared in tap water, though both groups experiences a decrease in diversity (57). Another study into the effects of inbreeding on *Ae. aegypti* (49) found that the fitness, as measured by development time and survival, decreased over 20 generations of insectary inbreeding, but fitness was improved by a single generation of outbreeding by introducing mosquitoes from an earlier generation (49). While neither of these studies examined vector competence, they still exemplify simple methods that can be used to minimize the progression to an artificial, colonized phenotype. Additional studies and the development of alternative methodologies should be pursued to develop insectary protocols that result in mosquito populations that better reflect vectors in their field setting.

Two important considerations for vector competence studies are reproducibility and relevance to natural vector populations. Utilizing a vector strain that has been heavily adapted to insectary rearing, such as Rockefeller *Ae. aegypti*, may maximize both ease of manipulation and result reproducibility as it produces a consistently colonized phenotype, through this has not been well-studied. This, however, is at odds with using field-collected mosquitoes, which are as relevant as possible to natural vectors but would be very difficult to replicate as each field collection would result in a different set of individual mosquitoes with varied microbiome, genetics, and other traits. To that end, it is important to note that the findings described here regarding insectary colonization may be specific to the mosquito population and insectary utilized throughout the study. While there is strong evidence that colonization changes multiple aspects of vector biology (46, 49-44, 47-63, 67-71), the direction and extent of those changes likely depend on a number of factors such as bacteria present in the insectary, traits of the mosquitoes used to initiate the colony, and maintenance size of the colony. It has been observed that even replicate colonies can acquire different traits during the process of colonization (49). To best maximize relevance to natural vectors while not sacrificing reproducibility, arbovirus researchers need to incorporate strategies to minimize effects of colonization. These may include collection of field mosquitoes when possible, outbred (field-collected) crossing into insectary-reared colonies, the use of field-collected larval water for rearing, and regular characterization of colony traits such as gene expression and microbiome. The characterization of colonies would also allow results such as vector competence to be examined in a more complete context and could lead to identifying correlation across experimental outcomes.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The studies presented here focus on changes that occur during early colonization of *Ae. aegypti*, namely changes to vector competence for ZIKV, and the microbiome. An important factor missing from these analyses is changes to gene expression. These data could provide a link between changes observed in microbiome and vector competence via immune pathways, or could identify other pathways that provide additional correlations. The RNA for these studies has been extracted from each generation and will be analyzed prior to publication.

To more fully explore the consequences of colonization with the aim of identifying protocols to minimize these effects on experimental outcomes, additional long-term studies

could be run using multiple vector populations and insectary protocols. Overall, these studies would be similar to those described in Chapter 4 with regular determination of vector competence and microbiome, along with gene expression and other factors. However, beginning with more than one vector population as well as replicate colonies from a single starting population would explore the relative influences of the founding population, stochasticity, and insectary setting. If possible, running the study across two insectaries would further dissect these influences. Strategies to minimize colonization effects, including outbreeding and larval rearing in field-collected water, would be utilized alongside control groups to examine their effects and their relative ability to aid reproducibility across vector populations. Lastly, these studies would run for multiple years in order to determine at what point the vector populations would approach a heavily colonized phenotype, as exemplified by the Rockefeller strain, and for how long the strategies to mitigate colonization are effective. While these proposed experiments represent an extensive undertaking, they would provide a wealth of valuable data to arbovirus researchers and allow for better reproducibility of experiments. Additionally, as vector competence studies provide only a part of estimating vectorial capacity, increasing the relevance of the experimental vector populations to wild populations maximizes the applicability of results.

References

- 1. Kuno G, Chang GJ, Tsuchiya KR, et al. Phylogeny of the Genus Flavivirus. *J Virol.* 1998; 72: 73-83.
- 2. King AM, Adams MJ, Carstens EB, et al. Family Flaviviridae. *Virus Taxonomy : Ninth Report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses*. 2011; 1003-1020.
- Ávila-Pérez G, Nogales A, Martín V, et al. Reverse Genetic Approaches for the Generation of Recombinant Zika Virus. *Viruses*. 2018; 10(11): 597. doi:10.3390/v10110597
- 4. Gould EA, Lamballerie X, Zanotto PM, et al. Origins, evolution, and vector/host coadaptions within the Genus Flavivirus. *Adv Virus Res.* 2003; *59*: 277-314.
- 5. Burrell CJ, Howard CR, Murphy FA. Flaviviruses. *Fenner and White's Medical Virology*. 2017; 493-518.
- 6. Payne S. Family Flaviviridae. Viruses. 2017; 129-139.
- 7. Calisher CH, Gould EA. Taxonomy of the virus family Flaviviridae. *Adv Virus Res.* 2003; *59*: 1-19.
- 8. Avila-Perez G, Nogales A, Martin V, et al. Reverse Genetic Approaches for the Generation of Recombinant Zika Virus. *Viruses*. 2018; *10*.
- Abram RPM, Solis J, Nath A. Therapeutic Approaches for Zika Virus Infection of the Nervous System. *Neurotherapeutics*. 2017; *14*(4):1027-1048. doi: 10.1007/s13311-017-0575-2.
- 10. Tomar S, Mudgal R, Fatma B. Flavivirus Protease: An Antiviral Target. In *Viral Proteases and Their Inhibitors*. 2017; 137-161.

- 11. Lee I, Bos S, Li G, et al. Probing Molecular Insights into Zika Virus(-)Host Interactions. *Viruses*. 2018; *10*.
- 12. Dick GWA, Kitchen SF, Haddow AJ. Zika Virus (I). Isolations and Serologic Specificity. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* 1952; 46: 12.
- 13. Dick GWA. Zika Virus (II) Pathogenicity and Physical Properties. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* 1952; *46*: 521-534.
- 14. Simpson DIH. Zika Virus Infection in Man. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* 1964; 58: 335-338.
- 15. Pettersson JH, Bohlin J, Dupont-Rouzeyrol M, et al. Re-visiting the evolution, dispersal and epidemiology of Zika virus in Asia. *Emerg Microbes Infect.* 2018; 7: 79.
- 16. Weaver SC, Costa F, Garcia-Blanco MA, et al. Zika virus: History, emergence, biology, and prospects for control. *Antiviral Res.* 2016; *130*: 69-80.
- 17. Smithburn KC, Kerr JA, Gatne PB. Neutralzing antibodies against certain viruses in the sera of residents of India. *J Immunol.* 1954; 72: 248-257.
- 18. Smithburn KC. Neutralizing antibodies against arthropod-borne viruses in the sera of lon-time residents of Malaya and Borneo. *Am J Hyg.* 1954; *59*: 157-163.
- 19. Marchette NJ, Garcia R, Rudnick A. ISOLATION OF ZIKA VIRUS FROM AEDES AEGYPTI MOSQUITOES IN MALAYSIA. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 1969; *18*: 411-415.
- 20. Olson JG, Ksiazek TG, Suhandiman, et al. Zika virus, a cause of fever in Central Java, Indonesia. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* 1981; 75: 389-393.
- Weaver SC. Emergence of Epidemic Zika Virus Transmission and Congenital Zika Syndrome: Are Recently Evolved Traits to Blame? *mBio*. 2017; 8(1): e02063-16; DOI: 10.1128/mBio.02063-16
- 22. Hayes EB. Zika virus outside Africa. Emerg Infect Dis. 2009; 15: 1347-1350.
- 23. Baud D, Gubler DJ, Schaub B, et al. An update on Zika virus infection. *The Lancet*. 2017; *390*: 2099-2109.
- 24. Duffy MR, Chen TH, Hancock WT, et al. Zika Virus Outbreak on Yap Island, Federated States of Micronesia. *N Engl J Med.* 2009; *360*: 2536-2543.
- 25. Musso D, Cao-Lormeau VM, Gubler DJ. Zika virus: following the path of dengue and chikungunya? *The Lancet*. 2015; *386*: 243-244.

- 26. Musso D, Gubler DJ. Zika Virus. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2016; 29: 487-524.
- 27. Haddow AD, Schuh AJ, Yasuda CY, et al. Genetic characterization of Zika virus strains: geographic expansion of the Asian lineage. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* 2012; 6: e1477.
- 28. Musso D, Nilles EJ, Cao-Lormeau VM. Rapid spread of emerging Zika virus in the Pacific area. *Clin Microbiol Infect.* 2014; 20: O595-596.
- 29. Theze J, Li T, du Plessis L, et al. Genomic Epidemiology Reconstructs the Introduction and Spread of Zika Virus in Central America and Mexico. *Cell Host Microbe.* 2018; *23*: 895-864 e897.
- 30. McCloskey B, Endericks T. The rise of Zika infection and microcephaly: what can we learn from a public health emergency? *Public Health*. 2017; *150*: 87-92.
- 31. Wheeler AC. Development of Infants With Congenital Zika Syndrome: What Do We Know and What Can We Expect? *Pediatrics*. 2017; *141*: e2017203.
- 32. Regis LN, Acioli RV, Silveira JC Jr, et al. Sustained reduction of the dengue vector population resulting from an integrated control strategy applied in two Brazilian cities. *PLoS One*. 2013; 8(7): e67682. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0067682
- 33. Abad-Franch F, Zamora-Perea E, Luz SL. Mosquito-Disseminated Insecticide for Citywide Vector Control and Its Potential to Block Arbovirus Epidemics: Entomological Observations and Modeling Results from Amazonian Brazil. *PLoS Med.* 2017; *14(1)*: e1002213. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1002213
- 34. Carvalho DO, McKemey AR, Garziera L, et al. Suppression of a Field Population of Aedes aegypti in Brazil by Sustained Release of Transgenic Male Mosquitoes. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* 2015; 9(7): e0003864. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0003864
- 35. Souza-Neto JA, Powell JR, Bonizzoni M. Aedes aegypti vector competence studies: A review. *Infect Genet Evol.* 2019; 67: 191-209.
- 36. Lim EXY, Lee WS, Madzokere ET, et al. Mosquitoes as Suitable Vectors for Alphaviruses. *Viruses*. 2018; *10(2)*: 84. doi:10.3390/v10020084
- 37. Kramer LD, Ciota AT. Dissecting vectorial capacity for mosquito-borne viruses. *Curr Opin Virol.* 2015; *15*: 112-118.

- Lounibos LP, Kramer LD. Invasiveness of Aedes aegypti and Aedes albopictus and Vectorial Capacity for Chikungunya Virus. *J Infect Dis.* 2016; 214: S453-S458.
- Tesla B., Demakovsky L.R., Packiam H.S., Mordecai E.A., Rodriguez A.D., Bonds M.H., Brindley M.A., Murdock C.C. Estimating the effects of variation in viremia on mosquito susceptibility, infectiousness, and R0 of Zika in Aedes aegypti. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* 2018; *12:* e0006733. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0006733.
- 40. Lozano-Fuentes S, Kenney JL, Varnado W, et al. Susceptibility and Vectorial Capacity of American Aedes albopictus and Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae) to American Zika Virus Strains. *J Med Entomol.* 2019; *56(1):* 233–240. doi:10.1093/jme/tjy114
- 41. Macdonald G. Epidemiologic models in studies of vector-borne diseases. *Public Health Rep.* 1961; 76: 753-764.
- 42. Tippelt L, Werner D, Kampen H. Tolerance of three Aedes albopictus strains (Diptera: Culicidae) from different geographical origins towards winter temperatures under field conditions in northern Germany. *PLoS One.* 2019; *14(7):* e0219553. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0219553
- Kuno G. Early history of laboratory breeding of Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae) focusing on the origins and use of selected strains. *J Med Entomol.* 2010; 47: 957-971.
- 44. Gargan TP, Bailey CL, Higbee GA, et al. The effect of laboratory colonization on the vector-pathogen interactions of Egyptian Culex pipiens and Rift Valley fever virus. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 1983; *32:* 1154-1163.
- 45. Muturi EJ, Kim CH, Jacob B, Murphy S, Novak RJ. Interspecies predation between Anopheles gambiae s.s. and Culex quinquefasciatus larvae. *J Med Entomol.* 2010; *47(2):* 287–290. doi:10.1603/me09085
- 46. Alto BW, Muturi EJ, Lampman RL. Effects of nutrition and density in Culex pipiens. *Med Vet Entomol.* 2012; *26(4):* 396-406.
- Ross PA, Endersby-Harshman NM, Hoffmann AA. A comprehensive assessment of inbreeding and laboratory adaptation in *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes. *Evol Appl.* 2018; *12(3):* 572–586. 17. doi:10.1111/eva.12740
- Oliva CF, Benedict MQ, Lempérière G, et al. Laboratory selection for an accelerated mosquito sexual development rate. *Malar J.* 2011; *10*: 135. doi:10.1186/1475-2875-10-135

- 49. Baeshen R, Ekechukwu NE, Toure M, et al. Differential effects of inbreeding and selection on male reproductive phenotype associated with the colonization and laboratory maintenance of Anopheles gambiae. *Malar J*. 2014; *13*: 19. doi:10.1186/1475-2875-13-19
- Strand MR. Composition and functional roles of the gut microbiota in mosquitoes. *Curr Opin Insect Sci.* 2018; 28: 59–65. doi:10.1016/j.cois.2018.05.008
- 51. Gimonneau G, Tchioffo MT, Abate L, et al. Composition of Anopheles coluzzi and Anopheles gambiae microbiota from larval and adult stages. *Infect Genet Evol.* 2014; *28*: 715-24. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2014.09.029.
- 52. Muturi EJ, Dunlap C, Ramirez JL, et al. Host blood-meal source has a strong impact on gut microbiota of Aedes aegypti. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol.* 2019; *95(1)*. doi: 10.1093/femsec/fiy213.
- Sharma P, Sharma S, Maurya RK, et al. Salivary glands harbor more diverse microbial communities than gut in Anopheles culicifacies. *Parasit Vectors*. 2014; 7: 235. doi:10.1186/1756-3305-7-235
- 54. Hegde S, Khanipov K, Albayrak L, et al. Microbiome Interaction Networks and Community Structure From Laboratory-Reared and Field-Collected Aedes aegypti, Aedes albopictus, and Culex quinquefasciatus Mosquito Vectors. Front Microbiol. 2018; 9: 2160. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2018.02160
- 55. Akorli J, Namaali PA, Ametsi GW, et al. Generational conservation of composition and diversity of field-acquired midgut microbiota in Anopheles gambiae (sensu lato) during colonization in the laboratory. *Parasit Vectors*. 2019; *12(1)*: 27. doi:10.1186/s13071-019-3287-0
- 56. Dickson LB, Ghozlane A, Volant S, et al. Diverse laboratory colonies of Aedes aegypti harbor the same adult midgut bacterial microbiome. *Parasit Vectors*. 2018; 11(1): 207. doi:10.1186/s13071-018-2780-1
- Wang X, Liu T, Wu Y, et al. Bacterial microbiota assemblage in Aedes albopictus mosquitoes and its impacts on larval development. *Mol Ecol.* 2018; 27(14): 2972– 2985. doi:10.1111/mec.14732
- Cappelli A, Damiani C, Mancini MV, et al. *Asaia* Activates Immune Genes in Mosquito Eliciting an Anti-*Plasmodium* Response: Implications in Malaria Control. *Front Genet.* 2019; *10*: 836. doi:10.3389/fgene.2019.00836
- Wu P, Sun P, Nie K, et al. A Gut Commensal Bacterium Promotes Mosquito Permissiveness to Arboviruses. *Cell Host Microbe*. 2019; 25(1): 101-112. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2018.11.004.

- 60. Gloria-Soria A, Soghigian J, Kellner D, et al. Genetic diversity of laboratory strains and implications for research: The case of Aedes aegypti. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* 2019; *13(12):* e0007930. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0007930
- Azrag RS, Ibrahim K, Malcolm C, et al. Laboratory rearing of Anopheles arabiensis: impact on genetic variability and implications for Sterile Insect Technique (SIT) based mosquito control in northern Sudan. *Malar J.* 2016; *15(1):* 432. doi:10.1186/s12936-016-1484-2
- 62. Hegde S, Rasgon JL, Hughes GL. The microbiome modulates arbovirus transmission in mosquitoes. *Curr Opin Virol*. 2015; *15*: 97–102. doi:10.1016/j.coviro.2015.08.011
- 63. Angleró-Rodríguez YI, MacLeod HJ, Kang S, et al. *Aedes aegypti* Molecular Responses to Zika Virus: Modulation of Infection by the Toll and Jak/Stat Immune Pathways and Virus Host Factors. *Front Microbiol*. 2017; 8: 2050. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2017.02050
- 64. Jupatanakul N, Sim S, Angleró-Rodríguez YI, et al. Engineered Aedes aegypti JAK/STAT Pathway-Mediated Immunity to Dengue Virus. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*. 2017; *11(1)*: e0005187. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005187
- 65. Armstrong PM, Rico-Hesse R. Differential susceptibility of Aedes aegypti to infection by the American and Southeast Asian genotypes of dengue type 2 virus. *Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis.* 2001; *1(2):* 159–168. doi:10.1089/153036601316977769
- 66. Lorenz L, Beaty BJ, Aitken THG, et al. The effect of colonization upon Aedes aegypti susceptibility to oral infection with yellow fever virus. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 1984; *33*: 690-694.
- 67. Gargan TP, Bailey CL, Higbee GA, et al. The effect of laboratory colonization on the vector-pathogen interactions of Egyptian Culex pipiens and Rift Valley fever virus. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 1983; *32*: 1154-1163.
- 68. Mohanty AK, Nina PB, Ballav S, et al. Susceptibility of wild and colonized Anopheles stephensi to Plasmodium vivax infection. *Malar J*. 2018; *17(1)*: 225. doi:10.1186/s12936-018-2343-0
- 69. Shan C, Xie X, Muruato AE, et al. An Infectious cDNA Clone of Zika Virus to Study Viral Virulence, Mosquito Transmission, and Antiviral Inhibitors. *Cell Host Microbe*. 2016; *19*: 891-900.
- 70. Roundy CM, Azar SR, Rossi SL, et al. Variation in Aedes aegypti Mosquito Competence for Zika Virus Transmission. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2017; 23: 665-632.

- Azar SR, Roundy CM, Rossi SL, et al. Differential Vector Competency of Aedes albopictus Populations from the Americas for Zika Virus. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 2017; 97: 330-339.
- 72. Pettersson JH, Bohlin J, Dupont-Rouzeyrol M, et al. Re-visiting the evolution, dispersal and epidemiology of Zika virus in Asia. *Emerg Microbes Infect.* 2018; 7: 79.
- 73. Smithburn KC, Kerr JA, Gatne PB. Neutralzing antibodies against certain viruses in the sera of residents of India. *J Immunol.* 1954; 72: 248-257.
- 74. Smithburn KC. Neutralizing antibodies against arthropod-borne viruses in the sera of long-time residents of Malaya and Borneo. *Am J Hyg.* 1954; *59*: 157-163.
- 75. Musso D, Nilles EJ, Cao-Lormeau VM. Rapid spread of emerging Zika virus in the Pacific area. *Clin Microbiol Infect.* 2014; 20: O595-596.
- 76. Faria NR, Azevedo RSS, Kraemer MUG, et al. Zika virus in the Americas: Early epidemiological and genetic findings. *Science*. 2016; *352*: 345- 349.
- 77. Lowe R, Barcellos C, Brasil P, et al. The Zika Virus Epidemic in Brazil: From Discovery to Future Implications. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2018; 15.
- Passos SRL, Borges Dos Santos MA, Cerbino-Neto J, et al. Detection of Zika Virus in April 2013 Patient Samples, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2017; 23: 2120-2121.
- Zanluca C, Melo VC, Mosimann AL, et al. First report of autochthonous transmission of Zika virus in Brazil. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz*. 2015; *110*: 569-572.
- 80. Rodriguez-Barraquer I, Cordeiro MT, Braga C, et al. From re-emergence to hyperendemicity: the natural history of the dengue epidemic in Brazil. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 2011, *5*, e935.
- 81. Wikan N, Smith DR. Zika virus: history of a newly emerging arbovirus. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*. 2016; *16*: e119-e126.
- Tsetsarkin KA, Vanlandingham DL, McGee CE, et al. A single mutation in chikungunya virus affects vector specificity and epidemic potential. *PLoS Pathog*. 2007; *3*: e201.
- 83. Tsetsarkin KA, Chen R, Yun R, et al. Multi-peaked adaptive landscape for chikungunya virus evolution predicts continued fitness optimization in Aedes albopictus mosquitoes. *Nat Commun.* 2014; *5*: 4084.

- 84. Johnson TL, Haque U, Monaghan AJ, et al. Modeling the Environmental Suitability for Aedes (Stegomyia) aegypti and Aedes (Stegomyia) albopictus (Diptera: Culicidae) in the Contiguous United States. *J Med Entomol.* 2017; 54: 1605-1614.
- Kauffman EB, Kramer LD. Zika Virus Mosquito Vectors: Competence, Biology, and Vector Control. *J Infect Dis.* 2017; 216(suppl_10): S976–S990. doi:10.1093/infdis/jix405
- 86. Chouin-Carneiro T, Vega-Rua A, Vazeille M, et al. Differential susceptibilities of *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* from the Americas to Zika virus. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* 2016; *10:* e0004543. 10.1371/journal.pntd.0004543
- Li MI, Wong PSJ, Ng LC, et al. Oral susceptibility of Singapore Aedes (Stegomyia) aegypti (Linnaeus) to Zika virus. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2012; 6: e1792. 10.1371/journal.pntd.0001792
- 88. Guedes DR, Paiva MH, Donato MM, et al. Zika virus replication in the mosquito Culex quinquefasciatus in Brazil. *Emerg Microbes Infect.* 2017; 6: e69.
- 89. Dejnirattisai W, Supasa P, Wongwiwat W, et al. Dengue virus sero-crossreactivity drives antibody-dependent enhancement of infection with zika virus. *Nat Immunol.* 2016; *17*: 1102–8. 10.1038/ni.3515
- 90. Swanstrom JA, Plante JA, Plante KS, et al. Dengue virus envelope dimer epitope monoclonal antibodies isolated from dengue patients are protective against Zika virus. *MBio*. 2016; 7: e01123–16. 10.1128/mBio.01123-16
- 91. Gonçalves CM, Melo FF, Bezerra JM, et al. Distinct variation in vector competence among nine field populations of *Aedes aegypti* from a Brazilian dengue-endemic risk city. *Parasit Vectors*. 2014; 7: 320. 10.1186/1756-3305-7-320
- 92. Kramer LD, Hardy JL, Houk EJ, et al. Characterization of the mesenteronal infection with Western equine encephalomyelitis virus in an incompetent strain of *Culex tarsalis. Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 1989; 41: 241–50.
- Weaver SC, Lorenz LH, Scott TW. Distribution of western equine encephalomyelitis virus in the alimentary tract of *Culex tarsalis* (Diptera: Culicidae) following natural and artificial blood meals. *J Med Entomol.* 1993; 30: 391–7. 10.1093/jmedent/30.2.391
- 94. Rodriguez-Barraquer I, Costa F, Nascimento EJM, et al. Impact of preexisting dengue immunity on Zika virus emergence in a dengue endemic region. *Science*. 2019; *363(6427):* 607-610. doi: 10.1126/science.aav6618.

- 95. Richards SL, Pesko K, Alto BW, et al. Reduced infection in mosquitoes exposed to blood meals containing previously frozen flaviviruses. *Virus Res.* 2007; *129*: 224–7. 10.1016/j.virusres.2007.06.019
- 96. Langerak T, Mumtaz N, Tolk VI, et al. The possible role of cross-reactive dengue virus antibodies in Zika virus pathogenesis. *PLoS Pathog*. 2019; 15(4): e1007640. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1007640
- 97. Althouse BM, Hanley KA. The tortoise or the hare? Impacts of within-host dynamics on transmission success of arthropod-borne viruses. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* 2015; *370:* 20140299. 10.1098/rstb.2014.0299
- Smith DR, Aguilar PV, Coffey LL, et al. Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus transmission and effect on pathogenesis. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2006; *12:* 1190–6. 10.3201/eid1708.050841
- 99. Styer LM, Kent KA, Albright RG, et al. Mosquitoes inoculate high doses of West Nile virus as they probe and feed on live hosts. *PLoS Pathog.* 2007; *3*: 1262–70. 10.1371/journal.ppat.0030132
- 100. Ciota AT, Lovelace AO, Jia Y, et al. Characterization of mosquito-adapted West Nile virus. *J Gen Virol*. 2008; *89*: 1633–42. 10.1099/vir.0.2008/000893-0
- 101. Lanciotti RS, Kosoy OL, Laven JJ, et al. Genetic and serologic properties of Zika virus associated with an epidemic, Yap State, Micronesia, 2007. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2008; 14: 1232–9. 10.3201/eid1408.080287
- 102. Barzon L, Pacenti M, Berto A, et al. Isolation of infectious Zika virus from saliva and prolonged viral RNA shedding in a traveller returning from the Dominican Republic to Italy, January 2016. *Euro Surveill*. 2016; *21:* 1–5.
- 103. Guerbois M, Fernandez-Salas I, Azar SR, Danis-Lozano R, Alpuche-Aranda CM, Leal G, et al. Outbreak of Zika virus infection, Chiapas state, Mexico, 2015, and first confirmed transmission by *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes in the Americas. *J Infect Dis.* 2016; 214: 1349–56. 10.1093/infdis/jiw302
- 104. Fourcade C, Mansuy JM, Dutertre M, et al. Viral load kinetics of Zika virus in plasma, urine and saliva in a couple returning from Martinique, French West Indies. *J Clin Virol*. 2016; *82*: 1–4. 10.1016/j.jcv.2016.06.011
- 105. Paupy C, Delatte H, Bagny L, et al. *Aedes albopictus*, an arbovirus vector: from the darkness to the light. *Microbes Infect*. 2009; *11*: 1177–1185.

- 106. Bonizzoni M, Gasperi G, Chen X, et al. The invasive mosquito species *Aedes albopictus*: current knowledge and future perspectives. *Trends Parasitol*. 2013; *29*: 460–468.
- 107. Yang C-F, Hou J-N, Chen T-H, et al. Discriminable roles of *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* in establishment of dengue outbreaks in Taiwan. *Acta Trop.* 2014; *130*: 17–23.
- 108. Grard G, Caron M, Mombo IM, et al. Zika virus in Gabon (Central Africa)–2007: a new threat from *Aedes albopictus? PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* 2014; 8: e2681.
- 109. Ferreira-de-Brito A, Ribeiro IP, de Miranda RM, et al. First detection of natural infection of *Aedes aegypti* with Zika virus in Brazil and throughout South America. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz.* 2016; *111*: 655–658.
- Weger-Lucarelli J, Rückert C, Chotiwan N, et al. Vector competence of American mosquitoes for three strains of Zika virus. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*. 2016; *10*: e0005101.
- 111. Vasilakis N, Weaver SC. Flavivirus transmission focusing on Zika. *Curr Opin Virol.* 2017; 22: 30–35.
- 112. Lambrechts L, Scott TW, Gubler DJ. Consequences of the expanding global distribution of *Aedes albopictus* for dengue virus transmission. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* 2010; *4*: e646.
- 113. Forrester N, Coffey L, Weaver S, 2014. Arboviral bottlenecks and challenges to maintaining diversity and fitness during mosquito transmission. *Viruses.* 2014; *6:* 3991–4004.
- 114. Franz A, Kantor A, Passarelli A, et al. Tissue barriers to arbovirus infection in mosquitoes. *Viruses*. 2015; 7: 3741–3767.
- Gardner LM, Chen N, Sarkar S. Global risk of Zika virus depends critically on vector status of *Aedes albopictus*. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2016; *16*: 522– 523.
- 116. Smith DR, Carrara A-S, Aguilar PV, et al. Evaluation of methods to assess transmission potential of Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus by mosquitoes and estimation of mosquito saliva titers. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 2005; 73: 33–39.
- 117. Hanley KA, Goddard LB, Gilmore LE, et al. Infectivity of West Nile/dengue chimeric viruses for West Nile and dengue mosquito vectors. *Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis.* 2005; 5: 1–10.

- 118. Klowden MJ, Lea AO. 1978. Blood meal size as a factor affecting continued host-seeking by *Aedes aegypti* (L.). Am J Trop Med Hyg 27: 827–831.
- Di Luca M, Severini F, Toma L, et al. Experimental studies of susceptibility of Italian *Aedes albopictus* to Zika virus. *Euro Surveill*. 2016; 21: 30223.
- Wong P-SJ, Li MI, Chong C-S, et al. *Aedes* (Stegomyia) albopictus (Skuse): a potential vector of Zika virus in Singapore. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* 2013; 7: e2348.
- 121. Smartt CT, Shin D, Kang S, et al. *Culex quinquefasciatus* (Diptera: Culicidae) From Florida Transmitted Zika Virus. *Front Microbiol.* 2018; 9: 768. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2018.00768
- 122. Guo XX, Li CX, Deng YQ, et al. Culex pipiens quinquefasciatus: a potential vector to transmit Zika virus. *Emerg Microbes Infect*. 2016; *5(9):* e102. doi:10.1038/emi.2016.102
- Elizondo-Quiroga D, Medina-Sanchez A, Sanchez-Gonzalez JM, et al. Zika Virus in Salivary Glands of Five Different Species of Wild-Caught Mosquitoes from Mexico. *Scientific reports*. 2018; 8(1): 809. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-18682-3
- 124. Barnett HC. The incrimination of arthropods as vectors of disease. *Proc 11th Int Congr Entomol.* 1960; *2:* 341–345.
- 125. Duchemin JB, Mee PT, Lynch SE, et al. Zika vector transmission risk in temperate Australia: a vector competence study. *Virol J.* 2017; *14*: 108.
- 126. Liu Z, Zhou T, Lai Z, et al. Competence of *Aedes aegypti, Ae. albopictus*, and *Culex quinquefasciatus* mosquitoes as Zika virus vectors, China. *Emerg Infect Dis*. 2017; 23: 1085–1091.
- 127. Ciota AT, Bialosuknia SM, Zink SD, et al. Effects of Zika virus strain and *Aedes* mosquito species on vector competence. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 2017; 23: 1110–1117.
- 128. Kenney JL, Romo H, Duggal NK, et al. Transmission incompetence of *Culex quinquefasciatus* and *Culex pipiens pipiens* from North America for Zika virus. *Am J Trop Med Hygiene*. 2017; 96: 1235–1240.
- 129. Dodson BL, Rasgon JL. Vector competence of *Anopheles* and *Culex* mosquitoes for Zika virus. *PeerJ*. 2017; 5: e3096.
- 130. Lourenco-de-Oliveira R, Failloux AB. Lessons learned on Zika virus vectors. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*. 2017; *11*: e0005511.

- 131. Fernandes RS, Campos SS, Ribeiro PS, et al. *Culex quinquefasciatus* from areas with the highest incidence of microcephaly associated with Zika virus infections in the Northeast Region of Brazil are refractory to the virus. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz.* 2017; *112:* 577–579.
- 132. Kalappa DM, Subramani PA, Basavanna SK, et al. Influence of midgut microbiota in Anopheles stephensi on Plasmodium berghei infections. *Malar J*. 2018; *17(1)*: 385. doi:10.1186/s12936-018-2535-7
- 133. Ngo CT, Romano-Bertrand S, Manguin S, et al. Diversity of the Bacterial Microbiota of *Anopheles* Mosquitoes from Binh Phuoc Province, Vietnam. *Front Microbiol.* 2016; 7: 2095. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2016.02095
- 134. Yadav KK, Bora A, Datta S, et al. Molecular characterization of midgut microbiota of Aedes albopictus and Aedes aegypti from Arunachal Pradesh, India. *Parasit Vectors*. 2015; *8*: 641. doi:10.1186/s13071-015-1252-0
- 135. Chandler JA, Liu RM, Bennett SN. RNA shotgun metagenomic sequencing of northern California (USA) mosquitoes uncovers viruses, bacteria, and fungi. *Front Microbiol.* 2015; 6: 185. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2015.00185
- 136. Chavshin AR, Oshaghi MA, Vatandoost H, et al. Isolation and identification of culturable bacteria from wild Anopheles culicifacies, a first step in a paratransgenesis approach. *Parasit Vectors*. 2014; 7: 419. doi:10.1186/1756-3305-7-419
- 137. Dinparast Djadid N, Jazayeri H, Raz A, et al. Identification of the midgut microbiota of An. stephensi and An. maculipennis for their application as a paratransgenic tool against malaria. *PLoS One*. 2011; *6(12)*: e28484. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0028484
- 138. Hughes GL, Raygoza Garay JA, Koundal V, et al. Genome Sequences of Staphylococcus hominis Strains ShAs1, ShAs2, and ShAs3, Isolated from the Asian Malaria Mosquito Anopheles stephensi. *Genome Announc*. 2016; 4(2): e00085-16. doi:10.1128/genomeA.00085-16
- 139. Chandel K, Mendki MJ, Parikh RY, et al. Midgut microbial community of Culex quinquefasciatus mosquito populations from India. *PLoS One*. 2013; *8(11):* e80453. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0080453
- 140. Nilsson LKJ, de Oliveira MR, Marinotti O, et al. Characterization of Bacterial Communities in Breeding Waters of Anopheles darlingi in Manaus in the Amazon Basin Malaria-Endemic Area. *Microb Ecol.* 2019; *78(4):* 781–791. doi:10.1007/s00248-019-01369-9

- 141. Muturi EJ, Ramirez JL, Rooney AP, et al. Comparative analysis of gut microbiota of mosquito communities in central Illinois. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* 2017; *11(2):* e0005377. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005377
- 142. Zouache K, Voronin D, Tran-Van V, et al. Persistent Wolbachia and cultivable bacteria infection in the reproductive and somatic tissues of the mosquito vector Aedes albopictus. *PLoS One*. 2009; 4(7): e6388. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006388
- 143. Hegde S, Nilyanimit P, Kozlova E, et al. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated gene deletion of the ompA gene in symbiotic Cedecea neteri impairs biofilm formation and reduces gut colonization of Aedes aegypti mosquitoes. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* 2019; *13(12)*: e0007883. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0007883
- 144. Noden BH, Vaughan JA, Pumpuni CB, et al. Mosquito ingestion of antibodies against mosquito midgut microbiota improves conversion of ookinetes to oocysts for Plasmodium falciparum, but not P. yoelii. *Parasitol Int.* 2011; 60(4): 440–446. doi:10.1016/j.parint.2011.07.007
- 145. Gusmão DS, Santos AV, Marini DC, et al. Culture-dependent and cultureindependent characterization of microorganisms associated with Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae) (L.) and dynamics of bacterial colonization in the midgut. *Acta Trop.* 2010; *115(3):* 275-81. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2010.04.011.
- 146. David MR, Santos LM, Vicente AC, et al. Effects of environment, dietary regime and ageing on the dengue vector microbiota: evidence of a core microbiota throughout Aedes aegypti lifespan. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz*. 2016; *111(9):* 577– 587. doi:10.1590/0074-02760160238
- 147. Novakova E, Woodhams DC, Rodríguez-Ruano SM, et al. Mosquito Microbiome Dynamics, a Background for Prevalence and Seasonality of West Nile Virus. *Front Microbiol.* 2017; *8:* 526. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2017.00526
- 148. Berhanu A, Abera A, Nega D, et al. Isolation and identification of microflora from the midgut and salivary glands of Anopheles species in malaria endemic areas of Ethiopia. *BMC Microbiol*. 2019; *19(1)*: 85. doi:10.1186/s12866-019-1456-0
- 149. Sharma P, Sharma S, Maurya RK, et al. Salivary glands harbor more diverse microbial communities than gut in Anopheles culicifacies. *Parasit Vectors*. 2014; 7: 235. doi:10.1186/1756-3305-7-235
- 150. Zayed ME, Bream AS. Biodiversity of the microbial flora associated with two strains of Culexpipiens (Diptera: Culicidae).*Commun Agric Appl Biol Sci.* 2004; *69(3):* 229-34.

- Fouda MA, Hassan MI, Al-Daly AG, et al. Effect of midgut bacteria of Culex pipiens L. on digestion and reproduction. *J Egypt Soc Parasitol*. 2001; *31(3)*: 767-80.
- 152. Vasanthi V, Hoti SL. Microbial flora in gut of Culex quinquefasciatus breeding in cess pits. *Southeast Asia J Trop Med Public Health*. 1992; *23(2):* 312-7.
- 153. Dada N, Lol JC, Benedict AC, et al. Pyrethroid exposure alters internal and cuticle surface bacterial communities in Anopheles albimanus. *ISME J*. 2019; *13(10)*: 2447–2464. doi:10.1038/s41396-019-0445-5
- 154. Rosso F, Tagliapietra V, Albanese D, et al. Reduced diversity of gut microbiota in two Aedes mosquitoes species in areas of recent invasion. *Sci Rep.* 2018; *8(1):* 16091. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-34640-z
- 155. Chen S, Zhao J, Joshi D, et al. Persistent Infection by *Wolbachia* wAlbB Has No Effect on Composition of the Gut Microbiota in Adult Female *Anopheles stephensi*. *Front Microbiol*. 2016; 7: 1485. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2016.01485
- 156. Alvarez C, Kukutla P, Jiang J, et al. Draft genome sequence of Pseudomonas sp. strain Ag1, isolated from the midgut of the malaria mosquito Anopheles gambiae. *J Bacteriol*. 2012; *194(19)*: 5449. doi:10.1128/JB.01173-12